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ACCOUNTABILITY AND LESSONS LEARNED 
FROM THE TRUMP ADMINISTRATION’S CHILD 

SEPARATION POLICY 

Thursday, February 4, 2021 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
COMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND REFORM, 

Washington, D.C. 
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:15 a.m., via Webex, 

Hon. Carolyn Maloney [chairwoman of the committee] presiding. 
Present: Representatives Maloney, Norton, Lynch, Connolly, 

Krishnamoorthi, Khanna, Ocasio-Cortez, Tlaib, Porter, Bush, 
Davis, Wasserman Schultz, Welch, Johnson, Sarbanes, Speier, 
Kelly, Lawrence, DeSaulnier, Gomez, Pressley, Comer, Jordan, , 
Hice, Grothman, Cloud, Foxx, Gibbs, Higgins, Norman, Sessions, 
Keller, Biggs, Franklin, Herrell, and Donalds. 

CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. Welcome, everyone, to today’s remote 
hearing. 

Pursuant to House rules, members will appear remotely via 
Webex. I know you are all familiar with Webex by now, but let me 
remind everyone of a few points. 

First, you have been using active view for our hybrid hearings. 
This will still work, but grid view will give you a better perspective 
in a remote hearing. If you have any questions about this, please 
contact committee staff. 

Second, we have a timer that should be visible on your screen. 
Members who wish to pin the timers to their screens should con-
tact committee staff for assistance. 

Third, the House rules require that we see you. So, please have 
your cameras turned on at all times. 

Fourth, members appearing remotely who are not recognized 
should remain muted to minimize background noise and feedback. 

Fifth, I will recognize members verbally, but members retain the, 
retain the right to seek recognition verbally. In regular order mem-
bers will be recognized in seniority order for questions. 

Last, if you want to be recognized outside of regular order, you 
may identify that in several ways. You may use the chat function 
to send a request, you may send an email to the majority staff, or 
you may unmute your mic to seek recognition. 

Obviously, we do not want people talking over each other, so my 
preference is that members use the chat function, like email, to fa-
cilitate formal verbal recognition. 

Committee staff will ensure that I am made aware of the request 
and I will recognize you. 
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We will begin the hearing in just a moment when they tell me 
they are ready to begin the live stream. 

[Pause.] 
CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. The committee will come to order. With-

out objection, the chair is authorized to declare a recess of the com-
mittee at any time. I now recognize myself for an opening state-
ment. 

Today’s hearing will examine the Trump administration’s role in 
one of the darkest chapters in our country’s history, as the entire 
world watched in horror while the U.S. Government literally ripped 
children from the arms of their parents. 

The Trump administration’s child separation policy was inten-
tional, demoralizing, and infuriating all at once. It was, in a word, 
evil. We are still living with the consequences of this disastrous 
policy today. 

As we convene this morning, hundreds of children still have not 
been reunited with their families and thousands more will forever 
carry the trauma of being pulled away from their parents with no 
idea if they would ever see them again. 

Inspector General Horowitz’s report on this policy is an impor-
tant contribution to a much-needed reckoning. I would like to 
thank Mr. Horowitz for appearing before the committee today and 
for the work he and his office have done on this investigation. 

As you know, Democrats on this committee have been demanding 
accountability for these child separations for years. In May 2018, 
shortly after the Trump administration started separating these 
children, I led a letter with our late colleague, Elijah Cummings, 
to then Chairman Gowdy seeking an investigation. He declined. 

In June 2018, then Ranking Member Cummings pleaded with 
our Republican colleagues to stand up to President Trump and stop 
these separations. He was begging for help. Elijah’s appeal that 
day to our Nation’s better angels was powerful and I would like to 
play some of his words today from that hearing. 

Inspector General Horowitz, you appeared before the committee 
that day so I am sure you will remember this. 

Can the clerk please play Elijah’s video? 
[Video shown.] 
CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. In the years since Elijah’s plea, the in-

humanity of this policy has only deepened, as the inspector gen-
eral’s report makes strikingly clear. The trauma inflicted on these 
children and their families was not an accident. It was the point. 
The Trump administration chose to use these children as weapons 
against their own families. 

Attorney General Sessions and his top political appointees pur-
sued their brutal zero tolerance policy, knowing full well that it 
would forcibly separate children from their parents. 

Separating children from their parents was meant to deter immi-
gration, no matter how valid their claims of asylum. 

When U.S. Attorneys at the border expressed concern about what 
was being asked of them, Sessions ignored their pleas for help. He 
responded, and I quote, ‘‘We need to take away children,’’ end 
quote. 

Let me repeat that. Quote, ‘‘We need to take away children,’’ end 
quote. That is what he said. The inspector general’s findings com-
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plement our committee’s own investigation, which revealed that the 
Trump administration misled the public about their rationale for 
the policy while actively downplaying the harm caused by child 
separations. 

The IG’s report makes clear that Trump administration com-
pounded the harm of this policy through incompetence. They reck-
lessly disregarded the objections of experts and failed to coordinate 
among agencies to track these children. They ignored obvious 
warnings from an earlier pilot program that experienced many of 
the same problems. It was a disaster from start to finish. 

Now we need answers and we need to finally reunite these chil-
dren with their families. On Tuesday, President Biden announced 
a task force to do just that. 

It is astonishing to me that we had to wait for a new president 
to finally take this step. It is long, long overdue and we commend 
President Biden for rejecting the inhumanity of continuing to allow 
these children to live without their families. 

You may hear that child separation started not under the Trump 
administration but under the Obama Administration and that im-
migrants were kept in so-called cages long before President Trump 
came into office. 

It is true that during a particularly massive influx of refugees 
from Central America in 2014 temporary facilities were used to 
house migrants for 72 hours as they were processed and placed 
with family members or others. 

But what the Trump administration did was significantly worse. 
It was an intentional policy of separating kids and jail everyone for 
weeks and months before they were deported without their chil-
dren, and it was meant to inflict trauma so that others wouldn’t 
come here. 

The message was clear. Don’t come here, and if you do, don’t 
bring your children because we will take them away from you and 
you may never see them again. Although we can never undo what 
the Trump administration did, we must do everyone in our power 
to ensure that it never happens again. 

We must also heal the wounds, both physical and emotional, that 
the Trump administration inflicted on these children. It is the very 
least we can do, and I intend to pursue that goal vigorously. 

Before I close, I want to let everyone know that out of an abun-
dance of caution I am currently quarantined after being exposed to 
someone with COVID. So, after the ranking member gives his 
statement, I will be turning the hearing over to Ms. Tlaib, who has 
generously agreed to manage the hearing on my behalf. 

I will still participate in the question and answer portion of the 
hearing but Ms. Tlaib will be managing the remainder of the hear-
ing. 

So, with that, I now recognize the distinguished ranking mem-
ber, Mr. Comer, for his opening statement. 

Mr. COMER. Thank you, Chairwoman Maloney, and before I 
begin my opening statement I would be remiss if I didn’t, again, 
say publicly that Republicans on the House Oversight Committee 
want to have these committee hearings in person. We show up for 
work. 
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We realize that these hearings are more effective, more efficient, 
and a lot more professional when they are held in person and, at 
the very least, we request that you would allow these hearings to 
be conducted like at least a third of the committee hearings in 
Washington and those are being held by hybrid where the members 
have the option of being in person if they want, and if they are con-
cerned about COVID then they can do it remotely. 

So, again, I want to publicly request that our next hearing will 
be, at the very least, a hybrid hearing. 

Inspector General Horowitz, it is always a pleasure to have you 
before the House Oversight Committee. It is clear from the inspec-
tor general’s review of the Department of Justice’s implementation 
of the 2018 zero tolerance policy that there were communication 
breakdowns, failures to fully coordinate with the Departments of 
Homeland Security and Health and Human Services and an overall 
failure to account for and ensure communication between parents 
being prosecuted for illegal entry and their minor children. 

And I believe these implementation failures are part of the rea-
son that President Trump ended this zero—this policy more than 
two years ago in June 2018 through an executive order reiterating 
that it was the administration’s policy to keep families together 
whenever possible. 

The zero tolerance policy suffered from serious implementation 
flaws that should never be repeated. Unfortunately, the humani-
tarian and national security crisis on the southern border has 
raged on for nearly a decade, starting under former President 
Obama and then Vice President Biden’s watch. 

Democrats in Congress have refused to close serious loopholes in 
our law that are fueling this crisis. One loophole all but guarantees 
that most parents who bring a minor child with them when ille-
gally crossing the border will be released into the United States. 

This loophole encourages illegal immigrants to bring a child with 
them to the southern border so they are quickly released into the 
United States. The border crisis reached its peak in May 2019 
when over 132,000 individuals were apprehended by Border Patrol 
agents just that month. 

The majority of those, 84,000, were part of family units including 
children in tow, and that was only one month. In Fiscal Year 2019, 
the Border Patrol apprehended over 850,000 individuals illegally 
crossing the southern border with more than half being family 
units. 

Absent the congressional action needed to end the crisis, the 
Trump administration employed many tools to deter illegal entry 
into the United States and prevent human smugglers from exploit-
ing victims for financial gain. 

President Trump implemented the migrant protection protocols 
where inadmissible aliens from Central America were returned to 
Mexico to await immigration court proceedings instead of being re-
leased into the interior of the United States for years. 

President Trump also implemented reforms to the asylum system 
to prevent illegal immigrants from gaming the system and filing 
frivolous applications. All of these reforms produced results and 
contributed to a large decrease in illegal migration during the lat-
ter month of 2019 into Fiscal Year 2020. 
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In Fiscal Year 2020, those reforms contributed to having the ille-
gal immigration on the southern border to 400,000 apprehensions 
while family unit apprehensions decreased substantially to 52,000, 
numbers which are still far too high, in my opinion. 

But illegal immigration is on the rise again, even as the Biden 
administration cancels these much-needed reforms by executive 
order and guts interior immigration enforcement by agency memo-
randum. 

On his very first day in office, President Biden’s administration 
suspended enrollments in the migrant protection protocols pro-
gram, publicly announcing the change. 

The Biden administration also sent a memorandum to immigra-
tion officials across the department of Homeland Security, com-
pletely gutting interior enforcement priorities. Even many con-
victed criminal aliens are no longer considered priorities for en-
forcement so long as they were released from criminal custody 
prior to January 20 of 2021. 

That memorandum also ordered a 100-day moratorium on almost 
all deportations of aliens with final orders of removal. Fortunately, 
a Federal judge has already temporarily enjoined the administra-
tion from carrying out that misguided policy. 

President Biden’s first legislative proposal sent to Congress 
would give amnesty to over 11 million illegal aliens already living 
in the United States, some of whom only arrived weeks before. 

These illegal immigrants would receive immediate work author-
ization, competing with Americans for jobs at a time when we al-
ready have 11 million Americans unemployed and searching for 
work. 

Through these actions President Biden has sent the messages 
loud and clear to the world that our immigration laws can be vio-
lated without consequence. It is no wonder that we now see more 
caravans comprised of thousands of foreign nationals organizing to 
leave their homelands to come illegally to the United States. 

These radical far left immigration policies will continue to enable 
the humanitarian crisis at the border, place more children in peril 
as they are brought dangerously to the southern border, encourage 
more illegal immigration, and undermine the rule of law. 

I urge the Biden administration to reverse these reckless policies 
and do its job mandated by the Constitution to take care that the 
immigration laws of this country are enforced. 

I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. 
[Presiding.] Our witness today is Michael Horowitz, who is the 

inspector general for the Department of Justice. The witness will 
be unmuted so we can swear him in. 

Please raise your right hand, Mr. Horowitz. 
Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you are about to give 

is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help 
you God? 

[Witness is sworn.] 
Ms. TLAIB. Let the record show that the witness answered in the 

affirmative. Without objection, your written statement will be made 
part of the record. 
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With that, Mr. Horowitz, you are now recognized for your testi-
mony. 

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL E. HOROWITZ, INSPECTOR 
GENERAL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you, Congresswoman. 
Chairwoman Maloney, Ranking Member Comer, members of the 

committee, thank you for inviting me to testify at today’s hearing. 
The findings in our zero tolerance report results from our view of 
approximately 10,000 pages of emails, records, and handwritten 
notes, 45 interviews, and, prior to the pandemic, Southwest border 
site visits. 

As noted in the report, we were unable to interview former Attor-
ney General Sessions because he had left the department shortly 
after the initiation of our review and the OIG doesn’t have the abil-
ity to compel the testimony of former department employees. 

This inability to compel testimony has been a problem in many 
other unrelated OIG reviews and investigations, as this committee 
well knows, and is an issue that this committee has previously 
sought to address on a bipartisan basis. 

I hope the committee will reinitiate those efforts in order to pro-
mote accountability and transparency in all of our work. 

On April 6, 2018, Attorney General Sessions announced the zero 
tolerance policy for immigration offenses involving illegal entry into 
the United States. The policy required Southwest border prosecu-
tors to accept all Department of Homeland Security criminal refer-
rals for alleged illegal reentry violations, including misdemeanors. 

As we detailed in our report, this announcement was the cul-
mination of a year-long effort by DOJ to increase criminal immigra-
tion enforcement on the Southwest border. 

The following month on May 4 at the urging of Attorney General 
Sessions, the Department of Homeland Security changed its policy 
of not referring family unit adults to DOJ for criminal prosecution. 

As described in our report, historically, when DHS apprehended 
adults with children, DHS, with the consent and the concurrence 
of Southwest border U.S. Attorneys, would not refer those adults 
to DOJ for criminal prosecution, largely to avoid separating par-
ents from children. 

Instead, DHS would place the family unit in administrative de-
portation proceedings. However, as a result of the zero tolerance 
policy and the change in DHS policy, in May 2018 DHS began re-
ferring family unit adults to DOJ for criminal prosecution, result-
ing in thousands of child separations. 

Our review found that DOJ leadership failed to effectively pre-
pare for or manage the implementation of the zero tolerance policy. 
We concluded that the department’s single-minded focus on in-
creasing immigration prosecutions through the zero tolerance pol-
icy came at the expense of careful and appropriate consideration of 
the impact of child separations. 

As we describe in our report, Attorney General Sessions under-
stood that prosecution of family unit adults would result in chil-
dren being separated from families, at least temporarily, and we 
determined that DOJ leadership was a driving force in DHS’s deci-
sion to begin referring family unit adults for prosecution. 
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We, additionally, concluded that DOJ leadership’s expectations 
for how the family separation process would work significantly un-
derestimated its complexities and demonstrated a deficient under-
standing of the legal requirements related to the care and custody 
of separated children. 

For example, Attorney General Sessions told the Southwest bor-
der U.S. Attorneys that prosecution of family unit adults would be 
swift and would be followed by immediate unification of the sepa-
rated families. 

However, Federal law requires DHS to place separated children 
in the custody of the Department of Health and Human Services 
within 72 hours. Completing a prosecution within such a timeline 
was, in most cases, a practical and legal impossibility as the South-
west border U.S. Attorneys had, effectively, reported to DOJ head-
quarters. 

Yet, we determined that DOJ leadership did not take steps after 
receiving this information and learning about DHS’s and HHS’s 
difficulties in identifying the location of separated children to re-
consider their prior assumptions about the ability to immediately 
reunify separated families. 

Additionally, we found that DOJ leadership did not effectively 
plan for or coordinate with the U.S. Attorneys, the U.S. Marshals, 
Health and Human Services, or the Federal courts prior to an-
nouncing the new policy. 

Indeed, we determined that those key stakeholders were pro-
vided with little to no advance notice of either the zero tolerance 
policy or the decision to prosecute adult family unit members. 

Our report makes three recommendations to the Department of 
the U.S. Marshals Service and they concurred at all three of those 
recommendations. 

Thank you again for the opportunity to testify today and I would 
be pleased to answer any questions that the committee may have. 

Ms. TLAIB. Thank you. The chair now recognizes Chairwoman 
Maloney for five minutes for questions. 

[Technical issue.] 
CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY.—Testimony today. 
Inspector General Horowitz, I would like to start with a very 

simple question. Did AG Jeff Sessions and other top DOJ officials 
know that the zero tolerance policy would separate children from 
their families? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Our report found that they did know in advance 
at announcing the child—in advance of announcing the zero toler-
ance policy in April. 

CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. Wow. Your report found that AG Ses-
sions and his advisors at DOJ were a, quote, ‘‘driving force’’ in 
pushing DHS to start separating children at the border by refer-
ring family members for prosecution. 

What did you mean by the term ‘‘driving force?’’ 
Mr. HOROWITZ. So, what we found was, as you indicated, that in 

advance of announcing the zero tolerance policy in April, in early 
April, Attorney General Sessions’ expectation was that it would 
lead to the referral of adult members traveling with children. 

After the announcement, that didn’t immediately occur and there 
were continued meetings, as we detail, in that April to May 4 time 
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period when DHS finally announced that he intended to make such 
referrals and that during that time period it was Attorney General 
Sessions’ and the department’s leadership that was pushing the 
Department of Homeland Security to make that change. 

CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. Also based on your report it appears 
that Attorney General Sessions and other DOJ officials knew ex-
actly what would happen because they had already done it before. 
A 2017 zero tolerance pilot program called El Paso Initiative led to 
the separation of hundreds of children in that area. 

Your report says DOJ officials knew in 2018 that the government 
had been unable to reunify children who were separated during 
pilot program. Is that right? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congresswoman, yes. The department had a pilot 
program where two U.S. Attorneys’ office with the Border Patrol 
had a pilot program called the El Paso Initiative out of Western 
District of Texas and the district in New Mexico that had identified 
many of the issues that later came to light in 2018 following the 
advent of the zero tolerance policy. 

What we found is there was a briefing for the department in De-
cember 2017. But the takeaway from the department was only the 
positives and no one was asking about the challenges that resulted 
in the U.S. Attorneys’ office and DHS stopping that policy in 2017. 

CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. And yet, Attorney General Sessions 
touted this program as a success in pushing for broader separa-
tions at a White House meeting in May 2018, correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That was part of the talking points, that is cor-
rect, explaining that it was a positive effort without being aware 
of or understanding all of the issues that led to its secession. 

CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. And that was the whole point of the 
zero tolerance policy, to use children as weapons against their fam-
ilies. Your report revealed the disturbing May 28 phone call be-
tween Attorney General Sessions and five U.S. Attorneys. 

The U.S. Attorneys on the call took notes of his comments and 
they wrote, and I quote, ‘‘We need to take away children. If you 
care about kids, don’t bring them in. Don’t give them amnesty. 
Don’t give amnesty to kids, to people with kids,’’ end quote. Let me 
repeat, ‘‘We need to take away children.’’ 

Mr. Horowitz, these notes indicate that Attorney General Ses-
sions told these U.S. Attorneys that taking away children was nec-
essary to deter their parents from coming to the U.S. Do you agree? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We found several instances, Chairwoman, where 
references were made to this being an important deterrent effort, 
that being one of them, during the call that Attorney General Ses-
sions had with the U.S. Attorneys. 

CHAIRWOMAN MALONEY. So, your report affirms that these child 
separations were an expected, even desired, outcome of the zero tol-
erance policy. Your testimony today is absolutely critical and it is 
appalling. 

I am truly sorry to the thousands of children and their families 
who continue to suffer because of these purposeful acts directed by 
officials at the highest levels of government. 

So, essentially, children who had done nothing wrong themselves 
were punished, separated from their families, jailed and trauma-
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tized, as a way to warn other innocent people who had not done 
anything wrong themselves. 

Punishing the innocent to scare the innocent is so un-American. 
The cruelty of this program was not an unintended mistake. It was 
the whole purpose. 

IG Horowitz, I want to thank you for your very important testi-
mony and for the critical work that you and your office did on this 
important report. 

I may have gone over so please give Mr. Comer additional time. 
Thank you. I yield back. 

Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Arizona, Mr. Gosar, is recognized 
for five minutes. 

Mr. GOSAR. Thank you, Chairwoman. I certainly appreciate it. 
I am glad the majority chose the topic of illegal immigration for 

our first substantial hearing. The American people deserve to know 
what is going on at our border. The focus is child separation policy 
during the Trump administration and how we need to learn our 
lesson. 

Great. Let us find out where this policy comes from because we 
haven’t gone far enough back in history, and I always like a good 
history lesson. 

The policy of separating children can be traced back to the Clin-
ton Administration’s settlement of Reno v. Flores. This court case 
dealt with INS’s detention and release of unaccompanied minors. 
The court ruled in favor of INS separation policies, yet the Clinton 
Administration decided to settle the litigation. 

According to Homeland Security, this settlement allowed the 
agency to detain unaccompanied minors for only 20 days before re-
leasing them to the Department of Health and Human Services, 
which places the minors in foster or shelter situations until they 
locate a sponsor. 

The problem was worsened in 2016 under Loretta Lynch as AG 
when the liberal Ninth Circuit interpreted the settlement to in-
clude minors unaccompanied and accompanied by their parents. 

Here we have the separation. Folks, now the floodgates are open 
to separate these children from their parents and Trump hadn’t 
even taken office. 

Not to mention the loophole that is already in place of catch and 
release where we give these folks a court date and there is nothing 
forcing them to show up, a loophole that was codified in the Ref-
ugee Act in 1980, put together by a government entirely controlled 
by Democrats. 

Because of this, Trump instituted a zero tolerance policy to en-
sure we didn’t just catch and release these people just to be lost 
in the interior of our country. 

Attorney General Sessions said that the zero tolerance policy 
would be used as a deterrent for potential smugglers and illegal 
immigrants. Wouldn’t you agree? 

I have actually visited with parents in Guatemala and El Sal-
vador where cartel members have actually confiscated their chil-
dren and the parents were forced to follow. 

Following this policy change, family separation became a tar-
geted attack. So, if you want to ask me what I have learned from 
Trump’s policy of separation—of separating children, I have 
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learned that it didn’t start with him and that major immigration 
reform is needed to fix these underlying problems. 

When you don’t fix something like catch and release, you hurt ev-
eryday Americans. I don’t know—I don’t need to go over the same 
platitudes of why illegal immigration hurts American workers be-
cause we all know them. 

Not only are American workers affected, but the people brought 
over are experiencing incredible hardships. There are countless ex-
amples, reports and testimoneys of people that have been trafficked 
over the border for illicit drug or sexual purposes, making the pol-
icy horrifying and, frankly, dehumanizing. 

In addition, we are seeing folks being recycled through the proc-
ess, thanks to our mainstream media. If you have a kid by your 
side of the border, you can’t be separated with your adult com-
panion and you must be free to seek refuge with that same indi-
vidual. 

DNA testing at the border has raised the scrutiny for being inac-
curate or, at best, inconclusive. But why is it wrong for us to know 
if these people are even related? Don’t we owe it to the children 
to make sure that that is the process? 

If the tests are supposedly inaccurate, we, obviously, agree on 
the premise of finding familial ties. So, let us make it a priority to 
improve that testing. 

The Biden administration has announced that children will no 
longer be separated from their parents at the border. At the end 
of the day, this is window dressing that will be lapped up by the 
adoring media. 

What are these plans to deal with families crossing the border 
now? Will they be detained together? If released, what will compel 
them to show up to their court hearings? 

Will we increase testing for DNA at the border? What about 
COVID? Will these individuals even be tested at the border? 

No offense, Mr. Horowitz. I love seeing you. But you are not the 
individual who needs to be answering these questions if we truly 
have this emergency. That is why I urge the—why I bring it to the 
chairwoman. 

Madam Chairwoman, I challenge you to bring folks from the 
Biden administration before this committee to answer questions we 
would all like to know, because simply halting the separation of 
children at the border is the equivalent of putting a Band-Aid on 
a bullet wound. 

And with that, I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. I now recognize myself for five minutes for questions. 
Inspector General Horowitz, thank you again for being with our 

committee. I would like to focus, as the chairwoman did, on the 
2017 El Paso Initiative that you discuss in your report. 

From March to November 2017, the U.S. Attorney in the West-
ern District of Texas and the Border Patrol office in that region 
conducted an initiative that, contrary to DHS policy at the time, di-
rected the prosecution of parents who arrived with children. 

So, Inspector General, how was this initiative similar to the zero 
tolerance policy later implemented by DOJ and DHS? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, it was begun, as you indicated, in 2017 be-
cause of discussions that occurred between DHS, Border Patrol, 
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and the U.S. Attorneys’ offices in western Texas and New Mexico 
about concerns and questions as to whether individuals coming 
with children should be given a complete pass for potential crimi-
nal prosecutions, the concern being that perhaps some individuals 
were using children to come here without—as a means by which 
to avoid criminal prosecution. 

So, the idea was to set up a discretionary program where Border 
Patrol would consider certain factors, certain aggravating factors, 
and then refer those cases to the U.S. Attorneys for consideration. 

Ultimately, that was the program by which the U.S. Attorneys 
didn’t accept all of the cases but exercised discretion over which 
ones to take, and subsequent reports indicated that somewhere be-
tween 15 percent and about a third of those cases were accepted 
for prosecution. 

Ms. TLAIB. And you already testified that the DOJ leadership 
was aware of the existence of the initiative. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Ms. TLAIB. Yes. Throughout your review, did you uncover any 

evidence that AG Sessions or other DOJ leadership were actually 
concerned about child separation? 

I know you called it, like, agitation or whatever they called dehu-
manizing immoral un-American policies that they implemented in 
this. Did you see any concern in your report by the Attorney Gen-
eral’s Office and the leadership there about the separation? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. What we found was that they were aware that 
that would be a result of this and our concern, as we detail in the 
report, is that they didn’t take the time or undertake the oppor-
tunity to consult with stakeholders like the U.S. Attorneys who 
handled the El Paso Initiative, like HHS, like the courts, or the 
U.S. Attorneys or the Marshals Service themselves, which are de-
partment components so that they could familiarize themselves 
with what the issues were likely to be despite those being pre-
sented in April and May. 

Ms. TLAIB. Inspector General, actually, I know in your report 
that you, in an interview with your office, a senior advisor to the 
attorney general Gene Hamilton actually was quoted saying, ‘‘It is 
going well,’’ that the El Paso Initiative was going well. 

Now, I don’t know about you all here today. Personally, I can’t 
imagine describing the taxpayer-funded campaign designed to ter-
rorize migrant families as going well. 

As your report notes, the DOJ tore apart about 280 families by 
pursuing this initiative. These cases involved 146 children five or 
younger. Is that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Ms. TLAIB. Including 11 babies who were taken away from the 

only family they have ever known. In Detroit, we call that inexcus-
able cruelty. 

As one official wrote to the acting U.S. Attorney in the region at 
the time, they said, quote, ‘‘We have now heard of taking 
breastfeeding defendant moms away from their infants. I did not 
believe this until I looked at the duty log and saw that the fact that 
we had accepted persecution on moms with one-and two-year-olds.’’ 

I just want my colleagues to just let that sink in for a second. 
The acting U.S. Attorney himself commented that history would 
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not judge prosecuting family units kindly. And yet, here he went 
ahead and did it anyway, tearing hundreds of families apart in the 
process. 

Inspector, based on this evidence examined during your inves-
tigation could you briefly describe Attorney General Sessions’ and 
DOJ leadership presented and characterized the El Paso Initiative 
to the other administrative officials? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, in terms of how they characterized it, as 
you indicated in the talking points we saw, it was referenced as 
being a positive outcome, the positive outcome being that there 
were increased prosecutions, resulting in metrics that showed de-
creased border crossings and that that was the positive. 

What was—what they failed to be aware of discussed was, as you 
indicated, the problems that were readily apparent once that pro-
gram got underway the DHS and HHS were having trouble reuni-
fying parents with their children and that that was resulting in 
court issues, court challenges, and problems that ultimately led to 
actually DHS unilaterally stopping the program. 

That information wasn’t discussed or, as far as we could tell, 
even briefed at any significant level to department leadership. 

Ms. TLAIB. Thank you, Mr. Horowitz. 
I now recognize the gentleman from Georgia, Mr. Hice, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. HICE. Thank you, Madam Chair. I appreciate that. And Mr. 

Horowitz, always great to see you. Thanks for joining us again. 
You know, apart from the comments that have been made by the 

chairwoman earlier to be absolutely outrageous, the reality is that 
if my Democratic colleagues genuinely wanted to improve the con-
ditions of these children then they would partner with us, quite 
frankly, to try to fix a broken immigration system, to speak out 
against some of the recent moves by President Biden that will only 
add further chaos at the border and further incentivize more illegal 
immigration from taking place. There is a tremendous amount of 
misinformation and, quite frankly, hypocrisy that is surrounding 
this entire issue. 

For example, the first controversial so-called kids in cages policy 
started under the Obama Administration, not under President 
Trump, and yet, some of my Democratic colleagues pulled out pic-
tures of 2014 under the Obama/Biden administration of kids in 
cages and tried to attach that to President Trump. 

That is an outrage. It is an absolute hypocrisy underway. It was 
President Obama’s DACA program that sparked the surge of illegal 
immigration at our southern border. The pictures of children in 
these cages, literally, they were being warehoused and that was 
taking place under the Obama Administration. 

And in the surges the chairwoman acknowledges was taking 
place a number of family units—of course, we are talking about 
adult aliens who were traveling with children, they were appre-
hended at the border. 

In fact, those numbers skyrocketed under the Obama Adminis-
tration. People saw these family units were being released into the 
interior of our country with catch and release. 

How do you stop illegal immigration when you release them into 
our borders? That was taking place under the Obama Administra-
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tion and that led to child recycling rings which, personally, I have 
seen on some of my visits to the southern border where these chil-
dren are used multiple times to escort adults illegally into our 
country and then, of course, they were released. 

In fact, in 2019, DHS identified some 4,800 fraudulent families. 
Under President Trump in June 2018, through executive order 
Trump tried to keep these families together while the immigration 
litigation process was unfolding. 

But, unfortunately, now, under the Biden administration, we are 
only watching the problem exacerbated as broken illegal immigra-
tion system that we have is being exposed. 

We are now watching under Biden his policies are going to weak-
en our border security. It will weaken our interior enforcement 
while at the same time incentivizing more people to come here ille-
gally. 

And, as already been mentioned, he is proposing 11 million peo-
ple who are here illegally to receive amnesty without closing any 
loopholes, by the way. This is just an outrage. 

Just this week—just this week, the Biden administration is open-
ing an HHS overflow facility for unaccompanied children on the 
U.S.-Mexico border. 

In 2019, this very same facility that is reopening, in 2019 one of 
my colleagues on this committee referred to that same facility as 
a concentration camp. 

I mean, that is just an absolute outrage. So, are we, now that 
Biden is going to use this same facility for the same type of chil-
dren, is this now the proper terminology, first, to refer to this as 
the Biden concentration camps? 

I have not heard a word of Democrats referring to it as con-
centration camps anymore. In fact, we have another caravan, as we 
all know, headed to our border right now from Honduras with 
thousands of people, and this whole thing is just an outrage to me. 

Mr. Horowitz, I don’t have much time left. Let me just ask you, 
with those who are coming to the country legally, went through the 
legal process, were any children separated from their parents in 
that legal process? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Not that I know of, although I would have to 
check to see how much we looked into that. 

Mr. HICE. There was just argument about children being sepa-
rated was a deterrent not to legal immigration but to illegal immi-
gration, and separating the children was part of people—of stop-
ping them from coming here illegally. Is that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. It was intended to be a deterrent 
on illegal immigration. 

Mr. HICE. Thank you. I see my time has expired. I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from District of Columbia, Ms. Nor-

ton, is recognized for five minutes. 
Ms. NORTON. I thank you. 
Inspector General Horowitz, first, let me understand what this 

shorthand means, this zero tolerance policy from the administra-
tion—from the Trump administration. That was to prosecute all 
cases of illegal entry including those seeking asylum and including 
separation of parents from children. Is that what we mean by zero 
tolerance policy? 
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Mr. HOROWITZ. As envisioned and implemented by Attorney Gen-
eral Sessions and his policy, that was the intention. 

Ms. NORTON. So, let us understand what we were talking about, 
and let me be the first to admit that every administration has had 
problems with people coming illegally into this country and we still 
have that problem, and it is incumbent upon us to make sure that 
people don’t just flow into the country. 

So, this has been and continues to be a problem for Democratic 
and Republican administrations. The question becomes how do you 
handle it. 

So, the fallout from this zero tolerance policy, certainly, didn’t 
come as any surprise. As I understand it, officials from DHS and 
DOJ, Department of Justice, had been discussing this policy at 
least in 2017. That is about a year before it was announced. 

Now, Inspector General Horowitz, your report found that the De-
partment of Justice leadership failed to coordinate, and I am trying 
to understand what that means, with other agencies before they 
launched the policy. 

So, could you explain your finding of the issues caused by the 
lack of coordination, coordination with what agencies? What should 
have been done? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Certainly, Congresswoman. 
So, we found issues with—internally within the department with 

two primary components, the Southwest border U.S. Attorneys and 
the Marshals Service, both of which bore the brunt of handling the 
additional prosecutions that came with the zero tolerance policy as 
well as the child separation. 

The U.S. Attorneys had to figure out how to handle the substan-
tial increase in caseload while handling all of their other cases. The 
Marshals Service had to figure out how to house these new defend-
ants and how to manage them safely. 

Externally, the Justice Department should have and needed to 
coordinate better with, for example, HHS. It was dealing with 
Homeland—with Department of Homeland Security, as we detail, 
but it was going to fall on the Department of HHS, Health and 
Human Services, to deal with the separated children. 

And what we found is that even as the DOJ was interacting with 
HHS on a variety of issues, it didn’t interact with them or discuss 
with them the plans for the child separation. 

DHS learned about this when I was announced. 
Ms. NORTON. Yes, that is important. I just want to, finally, talk 

about the—what you say about the children because both sides are 
concerned about that. 

According to your report, the officials at the Department of Jus-
tice demonstrated what you call a deficient understanding of the 
legal requirements related to the care and custody of separated 
children. 

So, I would like to know what were the legal requirements that 
you are referring to and what could a better understanding of those 
requirements have done to change what happened to these chil-
dren? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, the legal issue here is the requirement, first, 
under the Flores settlement and then under statutory provisions 
that implemented some of those settlement provisions that require 
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DHS to transfer unaccompanied children to HHS, to Health and 
Human Services, within 72 hours. 

As we detail in the report, Attorney General Sessions indicated 
in his comments that he believed prosecutions could happen almost 
instantaneously, certainly, within the 72 hours, and we have com-
ments from other senior officials indicating a similar belief. 

That belief, as we detail here, was not only legal—a legal impos-
sibility in most cases but also a practical one. Indeed, when the 
U.S. Attorneys found out that child separations would occur, they 
informed the department that they could not undertake most of 
these cases within the 72 hours. So, the assumption, belief, that 
this could be done in a day or within 72 hours was mistaken and 
reflected an absence of understanding of the law. 

Had that been known or had they asked in advance, Attorney 
General Sessions or others, they would have learned about those 
problems prior to implementation. 

Ms. NORTON. Thank you, Inspector Horowitz. Thank you very 
much for your report. It is very helpful. 

And I know my time has expired. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Wisconsin, Mr. Grothman, is rec-

ognized for five minutes. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Can you hear me? 
Ms. TLAIB. Yes. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. OK. Good. 
Thank you for being here. I will emphasize, again, what my 

ranking members says. I wish we could all see you in person and, 
hopefully, we can do that soon. 

The border concerns me a great deal. I know it is a very haz-
ardous border right now. I was down there last week, and I think 
they told us in the Tucson sector alone there were a hundred peo-
ple who dehydrated to death. So, a very dangerous situation last 
year. 

Do we know how many children have crossed the border, say, in 
the last year compared to three or four years ago? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman, I don’t have the data on, you 
know, recent crossings. We could enquire at DHS, which would be 
the keeper of that data. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Yes, I thought that—I thought you might just 
have it. As I understand it, the total number of people crossing the 
border has dropped from, like, 100,000 to 10,000 per month in that 
time. 

Do you know what percentage or how many, say, in an average 
month how many children wind up being processed at the border? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Unfortunately, Congressman, I don’t have any of 
those current numbers or even the month to month fluctuations. I 
know we saw in this review how the numbers fluctuated and how 
the department was tracking them. But I would have to ask DHS 
for those—for that data. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. OK. I will give you another question. Do you 
know how common it is—maybe this is another thing for those 
guys—how common it is for girls to be molested on the trip cross-
ing the border? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Yes. Again, Congressman, that would be some-
thing that we could inquire and, certainly, be able to verify that. 
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Mr. GROTHMAN. Yes. Well, OK, once we have them here, do we 
know how often the children are here with both parents and/or one 
parent? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. I don’t know the answer to that question on the 
numbers for one versus two. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. OK. I will tell you why I think it is so relevant. 
As I understand the problem we have at the border is that some-
times a child may come with one parent and the other parent may, 
say, still be back in Central America, and at least we are allowed 
to believe that some Central American countries don’t like that. 

Has there been any effort ever made if a child shows up with one 
parent and not another parent what the judicial system in the Cen-
tral American countries think of that? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. I am not aware of our—of people being aware— 
understanding of what the foreign government might think of that. 
Again, we could certainly followup to see if DHS or the department 
has that kind of information. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. At least I have been told and, of course, I just 
get this talking to the Border Patrol folks, that, well, we would not 
like it if, say, one parent took a child and went from the United 
States to Nicaragua, right, because frequently—I mean, right? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. In fact, there are laws on that but—— 
Mr. GROTHMAN. There are laws on that, and at least I have been 

told that going the other way the Central American countries don’t 
like us getting in—I mean, they don’t like it if one parent in Cen-
tral America comes across here. 

Do you know how many unaccompanied—well, how many minors 
does the—does our judicial system deal with every year? Do we 
have that? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. You know, that we could, certainly, find from the 
department’s immigration office, the judicial office here. I don’t 
know. It does fluctuate. Obviously, here there were thousands in 
the various—in the short time period at issue. So—— 

Mr. GROTHMAN. The judicial system, I guess—do you get in-
volved at least a little bit in every minor who comes here, or no? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We did not get involved in every single case but 
primarily because, as you know, DHS has first tier responsibility 
here and it would only come to the department if there is a referral 
and it ends up in the criminal courts or executive office for immi-
gration. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. Total, how many minors did you deal with, say, 
in the last year, that you wind up getting involved with because 
a referral is made? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, we found here in that just six-week period 
or so there were at least 3,000 children separated through refer-
rals. So, we were looking at, you know, just that six-week period 
or so, and that number we got from the DHS reports. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. OK. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. So, I can’t vouch for those myself. I can only tell 

you we relied derivatively on that. 
Mr. GROTHMAN. Yes. Can you tell me one more time when those 

six weeks were? 
Mr. HOROWITZ. So, it would have been, roughly, from the May 4 

announcement—— 
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Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. So, it would have been, roughly, from the May 4 

time period to June 20 when President Trump issued the executive 
order that, largely, ceased the referrals. 

Mr. GROTHMAN. OK. Thank you. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Massachusetts, Mr. Lynch, is 

recognized for five minutes. 
Mr. LYNCH. Good morning, Madam Chair. I appreciate your cour-

tesy. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Could I—could I interrupt? Could I interrupt 

the—is the chair not—oh, excuse me. I am sorry. Go ahead, Steve. 
Forgive me for interrupting. 

Mr. LYNCH. That is OK. That is OK. 
Thank you, Madam Chair. So, I am in three hearings right now 

so I am going to have to jump off after I get my answer. But so 
members of this committee had an opportunity to participate in 
CODEL Escobar. We were actually—we went to the El Paso/Juarez 
border crossing. 

We had an opportunity to meet with a lot of families. This was 
just when the MPP program, which is the return to Mexico policy, 
was implemented. 

Mr. Horowitz, I want to thank you for your wonderful work. You 
are a frequent flyer to our committee and I consider you a partner 
in oversight, and I had an opportunity to read your report. 

According to your report, one of the factors, and Ms. Holmes Nor-
ton actually hit on this a little bit, one of the factors that you de-
scribed that exacerbated this separation problem and continues to 
be a problem because of the failure of reunification efforts was the 
disconnect between the U.S. Marshals Service, you know, and pros-
ecution on that side versus, you know, under Flores, as you noted, 
HHS has the responsibility for the care and custody of these kids 
after 72 hours. 

So, they are on—first of all, they weren’t communicating but they 
are also on different timelines. Is that—isn’t that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct, and, in fact, as we noted, you 
couldn’t expect HHS—I am sorry, the Marshals Service, to prepare 
in advance with HHS when you didn’t tell the Marshals Service 
any of this was going to happen. 

Mr. LYNCH. Yes, this sort of landed in their lap, you know, unex-
pectedly and unannounced, and so they were scrambling to try to 
deal with this. 

You know, I am just curious. It is disappointing that you don’t 
have access to Attorney General—former Attorney General Ses-
sions, and maybe we got to look at that whole process as well so 
that you can do these, you know, deeper investigations and have 
cooperation from all of the witnesses. 

But that assumption that they were going to be able to do a par-
allel track, OK, so they could—they could, you know, prosecute, ap-
parently, the parents under criminal statute within 72 hours so 
that their kids, who were going to be put in HHS custody within 
72 hours so that that separation would not occur. 

You know, as absurd as that sounds to me, it would be helpful 
if you gave your opinion. Was that willful ignorance? I mean, know-
ing the mechanics of both processes, it seems to me that there is 
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no way someone could realistically assume that that was going to 
happen. I mean, that is just fantasy, in my opinion. 

But you had a chance to look at it more closely and I would like 
to hear your thoughts on that. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman, we found it was a practical and 
legal impossibility in almost all circumstances, and had there been, 
frankly, minimal due diligence by talking to the U.S. Attorneys 
themselves, the Marshals Service, DHS, HHS, the judges, the 
courts who were not consulted in advance, that would have been 
readily understood. 

But I would like to say also as a former AUSA prosecutor myself, 
I am a little out of date. I was a prosecutor in the 1990’s. But the 
notion that you could expect to put someone in the Marshals Serv-
ice custody, get them in front of—identify who they really are, 
right. 

You have got a person coming across the border. The whole pur-
pose of this is to make sure that before you prosecute someone for 
a misdemeanor violation that they aren’t, for example, a drug deal-
er or a—some other serious violator of the law that would result 
in a felony and a much more serious felony, right. 

So, the Marshals Service needs time, some time, to figure out 
who this person is, if they really are who they say they are. Then 
you have got to get them to a prosecutor. The prosecutor has to 
write a complaint, get them to the court. 

You got to get a judge. The judge has to take not only a guilty 
plea but then has to sentence the defendant, and that assumes the 
defendant is willing to plead guilty. That assumption would be 
faulty. Not everybody shows up and says, I am pleading guilty 
right away. They get a defense lawyer. 

As we noted, the courts are where it had a problem. They needed 
to find defense lawyers for all these new defendants, right. So, you 
need to get a defense lawyer lined up. 

There is all sorts of things that had to happen, and the notion 
that all of that could happen in the majority of these cases, let 
alone many, in 72 hours, as we found we thought was a practical 
and legal impossibility. 

Mr. LYNCH. Thank you, Madam Chair, for your indulgence. 
Thank you so much. 

Thank you, Mr. Horowitz. Keep up the good work. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you, Congressman. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Texas, Mr. Cloud, is recognized 

for five minutes. 
Mr. CLOUD. Thank you, Chairwoman. I appreciate the topic on 

what is an extremely important topic: our national security at the 
border, the humanitarian crisis that has been ongoing for many 
years. 

We, in Texas, experience this maybe in a way that much of the 
Nation doesn’t. While it does affect the entire nation, we feel the 
impact in our communities very—early on and in a way that is 
sometimes dramatic. 

I get texts and messages all the time from people throughout the 
district. Our sheriffs meet on a weekly basis to discuss how the 
communities even hours away from the border, are affected each 
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week in their communities by the cartel activity that goes on along 
the border. 

And I do think it is important to put this whole discussion in a 
context because there is a notion that what we see at the border, 
in a sense, is an organic movement which includes families coming 
to the border to seek a better life and, certainly, no doubt, when 
you are talking about thousands there is an element of it. 

But the real broader picture and more correct picture is that this 
is a cartel-driven mechanism, that the caravans we are seeing com-
ing to the border are, indeed, recruited by the cartels. 

The cartels charge for anyone who comes through the border. 
They profit from it, and our assets at the border, both in dealing 
and helping with children but also in protecting and securing our 
border, find themselves outmatched when it comes to assets, often-
times when it comes to manpower, when it comes to financing, to 
deal with the cartel activities who have more assets, more funding, 
oftentimes to deal with this. 

And what is heartbreaking is that, of course, the cartels have no 
regard for human life at all, and so they not only charge the mi-
grants who are coming from a financial perspective, but I have 
seen the videos where migrants have been, after going through the 
process, after paying, coming here are put in stash houses. I have 
seen where they have been stripped and beaten, and those videos 
sent to their families demanding more money be sent to them. 

And it is heartbreaking what happens. There is a report from 
Doctors Without Borders, and according to the report it said more 
than two-thirds of those making the journey north become victims 
of violence along the way and nearly one-third of the women are 
sexually assaulted along the journey. 

Ronald Vitiello, the former chief of the U.S. Border Patrol and 
former acting director of the Immigration and Customs Enforce-
ment, told this committee in July 2019—he said there is a signifi-
cant percentage of families who are pretending to be related when 
they are, in fact, not. 

So, this is a big problem. The word is out. People know that if 
they send or bring a child that their end result is to be released 
into the United States. 

Indeed, there was an investigation by the Homeland Security 
along with the Border Patrol that began a family fraud initiative 
in El Paso and they put out a report that outlined fraudulent fami-
lies, false documents being presented, and the bottom line was that 
the investigations indicate that transnational cartels and individ-
uals have entered into schemes with biological parents to dan-
gerously transfer their children ranging in age from four months 
to 16 years to unrelated adults so they can pose as family units to 
further their human smuggling criminal enterprises and to fraudu-
lently obtain U.S. immigration benefits. 

And so what happens is someone shows up at the border with 
a child claiming to be theirs and we have no idea if they really are. 
It is semi-humorous except for the context of what we are talking 
about. One family, when I was on a border visit, had showed up 
and they had presented themselves as someone who crossed the 
border for the first time and the child being their child. 
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And the child needed to go to the restroom and so the agent said, 
well, would you like me to show you where the restroom is. First 
time in the facility, supposedly. The child is, like, oh, I know where 
the restroom is already. The child had been there multiple times 
and had been part of their rent-a-kid program that the cartels had 
incorporated to send that child through with an unaffiliated 
unfamilied adult. 

I have been to a facility just outside my district that has 200 
young ladies who have been through the border and have been a 
part of this scheme, and it was heartbreaking to talk to the agents 
who said that a substantial part, if not the majority of them, had 
been abused along the journey. 

And so the question remains for us what kind of policies—— 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. CLOUD. My apologies. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Virginia, Mr. Connolly, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, and thank you, 

General Horowitz, for always speaking truth to power and doing it 
without equivocation or manipulation. You are a model of what an 
independent IG is supposed to be and do. Thank you. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you, Congressman. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. And let me also say we have heard the word out-

rage and hypocrisy from colleagues on the other side of the aisle. 
I guess I want to demur. 

I want to reserve my outrage for the fact that the United States 
of America found itself putting children in cages and deliberately 
using children as pawns to separate them from their families for 
an ideological commitment to a rigid immigration policy that was 
inhumane. That is where my outrage is, and I think that is where 
yours ought to be, too. 

Mr. Horowitz, I want to focus on a December 2017 memo dis-
cussed in your report titled ‘‘Policy Options to Respond to Border 
Surge of Illegal Immigrants’’ or ‘‘Immigration,’’ excuse me. 

It was prepared by DHS and provided to Gene Hamilton, a top 
aide to then Jeff Sessions, attorney general of the United States. 
It discussed multiple immigration policy options using unclear lan-
guage including, quote, ‘‘increase prosecution of family unit parents 
and separate family units.’’ 

Were these both, essentially, child separation policies, Mr. Horo-
witz? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. In practice, they would have been, yes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. And is that—was that just no different than pre-

vious administration policies with respect to children? 
Mr. HOROWITZ. What we found was that, historically, DHS, with 

the concurrence of the department’s U.S. Attorneys on the South-
west border did not transfer adults for criminal prosecution—in-
stead, using administrative deportation proceedings. 

There were some exceptions. There is a GAO report that identi-
fied a .3 percent figure in I think it was 2016. But, generally speak-
ing, that was—the policy was to not send adult—— 

Mr. CONNOLLY. So, in other words, this was quite a change from 
previous standing policy and practice? 
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Mr. HOROWITZ. At least since 1992 we saw that that was the 
case. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. I think that is really important because some 
would have us believe that this is no different than previous policy, 
and your own report finds quite the opposite. It was a drastic 
change in previous policy and deliberate. 

According to your findings, did DHS thoroughly vet the policy? 
Mr. HOROWITZ. DHS, apparently, did not. We—both through our 

work at DOJ and looking at the DHS OIG report, they identified 
serious problems with how DHS coordinated with the Health and 
Human Services agency. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. And, nonetheless, they went forward with the 
policy? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Hmm. According to your report, the memo was 

sent by the then DHS chief of staff to Gene Hamilton. We have al-
ready mentioned the key aide to Attorney General Jeff Sessions at 
that time. But you didn’t name the individual in your report. Is 
that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. All right. But I was curious and I looked into 

who was that DHS chief of staff at the time. Well, and lo and be-
hold, it was none other than Chad Wolf, the same Chad Wolf who 
held himself out as the acting secretary of DHS, even though GAO 
and multiple courts found that he was actually acting illegally be-
cause he had not been confirmed for that position. 

He also has quite a checkered history in terms of ending the 
DACA program protecting Dreamers, suspending New Yorkers’ 
ability to enroll in Trusted Travelers programs, and diverting dol-
lars, millions of dollars, of taxpayer dollars on President Trump’s 
famous border wall. 

And, of course, he was a key architect in the policy we are de-
scribing, putting children at risk and using them as pawns in try-
ing to enforce his views about immigration and who should or 
should not come across the border. 

It is a shameful episode in American history. It, certainly, is not 
something that made Americans proud and it is certainly not some-
thing that won us admiration overseas with friend and foe alike. 

I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from North Carolina, Ms. Foxx, is 

recognized for five minutes. 
Ms. FOXX. Thank you, Madam Chairman. 
Thank you, Mr. Horowitz, for being with us. In your testimony, 

you mentioned that the Department of Justice failed to effectively 
prepare for or manage the implementation of the zero tolerance 
policy. Is that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Ms. FOXX. You also noted that the department’s single-minded 

focus on increasing immigration prosecutions during the zero toler-
ance policy came at the expense of careful and appropriate consid-
eration of the impact of child separations. How could the depart-
ment have been better prepared for the implementation of this pol-
icy? 
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Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, I think, first and foremost, they should 
have consulted with their own components at, namely, their U.S. 
Attorneys on the Southwest border, their marshals on the South-
west border, as well as their counterparts at Health and Human 
Services and DHS to make sure there was an ability to reunite 
children after they were separated and the impact on the Marshals 
Service, the prosecutors, and the courts on the substantial influx 
of cases that would be coming as a result of these prosecutions? 

Ms. FOXX. OK. I was going to followup with what would prevent 
the same challenges. I am assuming you are saying coordination is 
the way to go with the local people? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. It seems obvious, I think, to ev-
erybody. But it just didn’t happen here. In fact, as we know here, 
HHS said they learned about the policy from media reports. 

Ms. FOXX. OK. So, your report made three recommendations to 
the Department of Justice. Can you please outline those rec-
ommendations? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Yes. So, we—the initial recommendation to the 
department was before undertaking a significant policy change 
such as this that it should consult with its components and make 
sure it has—and other executive branches of agencies and make 
sure it has those policies in place. 

Again, that seems obvious. But as you know from some of the 
prior hearings here on other matters sometimes we make those ob-
vious recommendations because, in fact, we find that problems 
arose. So, that is one recommendation. 

The second is to the Marshals Service to create internal policies 
that would better prepare the Marshals Service for interacting with 
HHS with regard to children and adults that are separated because 
we found here, when the Marshals Service learned of this new pol-
icy it actually didn’t have any of its own policies in place for how 
to deal with HHS. 

And then the third recommendation is for the marshals to inter-
act with HHS to come up with an MOU or other understanding so 
that, again, if there are separations that occur that adult defend-
ants in Marshals Service custody can communicate with children 
that are in HHS custody. 

Ms. FOXX. Well, would you—I think, again, you have described 
some of the ways in which you expect the Department of Justice 
to work in the future to coordinate with the affected stakeholders. 

I don’t know what reaction you have gotten from the department, 
but do you expect that those things to happen that you have rec-
ommended? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We did, and we got full cooperation from the ad-
ministration—the outgoing administration Acting Attorney General 
Rosen, who was deputy attorney general at the time. They con-
curred in all three recommendations and agreed with our findings. 

Ms. FOXX. Thank you. Are there any particular policies affecting 
multiple components or executive agencies that you are aware of in 
which this recommendation will be a key to a policy success or fail-
ure? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, I think, most importantly, it is the inter-
actions with the U.S. Attorneys and the executive office of the U.S. 
Attorneys, as we found here. 
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There were multiple occasions where they actually did highlight 
concerns in advance of implementation, briefly in advance of imple-
mentation, within days, and those weren’t considered. 

And I think a more robust process—in fact, as we say in here, 
that is what we were told after the fact, the recognition by former 
Deputy AG Rosenstein and others that that in fact should have oc-
curred, seeing now on paper what had happened. 

Ms. FOXX. Right. Thank you very much, Mr. Horowitz. 
And Madam Chair, I yield back. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you, Congresswoman. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from California, Mr. Khanna, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
[No response.] 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Georgia, Mr. Johnson, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. JOHNSON. I am sorry. Did the gentlelady say Congressman 

Johnson? 
Ms. TLAIB. Yes, Mr. Johnson. You are now recognized for five 

minutes. 
Mr. JOHNSON. All right. Let me pull up my screen. Bear with me. 

All right. 
All right. Thank you. I want to thank the chairwoman for hold-

ing this hearing today and I want to thank Inspector Horowitz for 
testifying. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you. 
Mr. JOHNSON. And I would like to begin by saying that I visited 

detained immigrants at more than one of the private for-profit de-
tention centers set up by the Trump administration to profit from 
the prolonged misery inflicted by Jeff Sessions, Rod Rosenstein, 
John Kelly, and others who sought to discourage asylum seekers 
and others from seeking entry into our country at the southern bor-
der by implementing a cruel and barbaric policy requiring that 
children, even infants, be ripped from the arms of their parents 
and placed in private for-profit detention facilities, sometimes lit-
erally in cages. 

The first step toward creating a system that prioritizes human 
dignity is figuring out what went wrong, and I am looking forward 
to doing that that today. 

Inspector Horowitz, your review found that Attorney General 
Sessions, Deputy Attorney General Rosenstein, and others intended 
that their zero tolerance policy would cause children, including ba-
bies, to be separated from their families. Isn’t that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That was, certainly, the understanding when 
they announced—when Attorney General Sessions announced the 
zero tolerance policy that was his understanding. 

Mr. JOHNSON. And your report documented that the purpose of 
this abusive child separation policy was to deter asylum seekers 
and others from seeking entry into the United States at the south-
ern border. Isn’t that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We found, in talking points and other records, 
that that was part of the reason for doing it was as a deterrent ef-
fect. 

Mr. JOHNSON. And your report found that the Trump administra-
tion moved forward on its child separation policy without the sort 
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of planning and coordination required to humanely and properly 
care for the thousands of children, including infants, who were 
snatched away from their parents. Isn’t that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Mr. JOHNSON. And, Inspector Horowitz, your report also con-

cluded that the Trump administration moved forward on its child 
separation policy without the sort of planning and coordination re-
quired that would have enabled the Trump administration to re-
unite the thousands of infants and children who had been taken 
away from their parents with their parents. Isn’t that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. They, certainly, didn’t take the steps that could 
have helped them try and do that. What they could have, ulti-
mately, done remained to be seen. But you are correct, Congress-
man. 

Mr. JOHNSON. Thank you. And, Inspector Horowitz, isn’t it a fact 
that as of today literally hundreds of children taken away from 
their parents under the Trump administration child separation pol-
icy remains separated from their parents today? Is that true? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is my understanding from court filings and 
ongoing litigation, Congressman. 

Mr. JOHNSON. Unfortunately, the stain of this inhumane Trump 
administration child separation policy will remain etched on the 
forehead of America for posterity, and I am gratified that the Biden 
administration is taking steps to put an end to this sordid chapter 
in the Nation’s history and Congress should work to do the same. 

Madam Chair, I also ask unanimous consent to enter into the 
record a statement from the organization First Focus on Children 
containing recommendations on how to ensure we never repeat 
what happened with the zero tolerance policy, including adopting 
a best interest of the child standard for all immigration decisions. 

Ms. TLAIB. Without objection. 
Mr. JOHNSON. Thank you, and with my remaining time, I would 

like to turn, briefly, to the section of your report that details how 
the zero tolerance policy burdened an already strained Federal 
court system, resulting in less judicial oversight and more chaos at 
the border. 

One striking detail from your report is that Federal judges in the 
Southern District of Texas, quote, ‘‘begged,’’ end quote, the U.S. At-
torney and the then deputy assistant attorney general to bring 
their concerns about family separations to Deputy Attorney Gen-
eral Rosenstein. 

That is how bad it got, Federal judges begging the DOJ for help. 
Your report also noted that Deputy Attorney General Rosenstein 
participated in a few meetings organized by the Administrative Of-
fice of the Courts to address the impact of the child separation pol-
icy on the administration of justice. 

To your knowledge, did those meetings lead to any changes in 
how DOJ handled family separations? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. It did not result, as far as we found, in any 
changes. The change occurred on June 20 when the executive order 
was issued that, essentially, largely, ended the separations and a 
week later a court ruling that, effectively, did the same. 

Mr. JOHNSON. Thank you. And aside from what you mentioned 
in the report—— 
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Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. JOHNSON. Thank you. I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Gibbs, is recognized 

for five minutes. 
Mr. GIBBS. Thank you, Madame Chair. 
First of all, I would like to say as a parent and a grandparent, 

anytime children are separated from their parents it is just heart 
wrenching, and this has, you know, been an issue past—previous 
administrations on the kids in cages and all that, and I want to 
associate myself with the remarks from Representative Cloud and 
Hice, both their remarks. 

But I was just down at the border last week and, you know, I 
think we have seen the border crossings drop. The illegal entries 
have dropped. We have got a better relationship with Mexico now. 

They have got, I guess, about 25,000 of their own troops on our 
southern border on their side that help, and one of the Customs 
agents there down on the border told us that in the last year or 
so that has really turned around, the relationship—the working re-
lationship with Mexico. 

So, that is all good things that came out of the Trump adminis-
tration and—seeing it drop. 

Now, my fear is what we ought to be doing, Madam Chair, is we 
ought to be calling in Biden administration officials to find out 
what they are going to do here on the border because when I was 
down there they stopped construction of the 30-foot wall and when 
you talk to border agents, you talk to ranchers, you talk to every-
body, a stakeholder down there, they all say they need the fence. 

I like to call it a fence because it is really a fence because it has 
holes in it. It is not a wall. The 30-foot fence and with the tech-
nologies to go along with that, and that is what we ought to really 
be addressing because if we don’t, we know there is a caravan com-
ing up from Honduras right now and that we will see more issues 
with children being exploited by the cartels and all the other illegal 
criminal activity that goes on there, a humanitarian crisis that is 
going on at the border. 

We witnessed that. People, sex trade, the human trafficking 
trade, the drug trade, and that is the issue we ought to be address-
ing with the Biden administration to find out what their thoughts 
are and when are they going to start reconstruction, reimple-
menting the construction of the fence. 

And I also want to note that the new 30-foot fence, it saves tax-
payers money because on border agent can patrol two linear miles 
of fence, and compared where there is no fence it takes three to five 
border agents to control one mile of border with no—with 50 per-
cent less apprehension of drugs and illegal activity. 

So, this is common sense. I encourage all our members, especially 
on the other side of the aisle, go down there. Talk to the border 
agents. Find out what they are saying and what is happening down 
there. Talk to landowners and see what is going on. 

Because if we don’t complete what we started here a few years 
ago—and we have seen results, the fence is working—we are going 
to see more and more incentives for the migrants to come up here 
looking for a better life and more and more of these issues that we 
are discussing today, and that is what we really need to address. 



26 

And so I encourage, Madam Chair, to encourage members to go 
down to the border, talk to the border agents, talk to the stake-
holders, and also we should bring in Biden administration officials 
and find out why they paused the construction of the fence that we 
know that works. 

And also when I was down there I saw a fence right next to— 
a new fence, and it was the same structure but it was 18 feet, 12 
feet shorter, and they—the border agents told me that was the 
Obama fence. 

And so, apparently, President Obama and then Vice President 
Biden at the time were for a fence before. Now they are against the 
fence. So — but the fence works. The technology works. 

Let us help our border agents patrol it and let us stop the human 
trafficking crisis at the border, the drug trafficking, and so, you 
know, that would, obviously, stop at least with the topic of the day 
with child separation at the border and let us help these countries 
down there to improve their economies and disincentivize these 
people that want to come to the United States. 

On that fact, I will yield back, Madam Chair. But let us—we 
ought to have hearings on what we are going to do at the border 
to stop the problem overall. 

Thank you. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from California, Mr. Khanna, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. KHANNA. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Thank you, Inspector General, for your work. I would like to ask 

you about the DOJ’s failure to form a zero tolerance policy with 
any of the U.S. Marshals Service. 

If you could just explain, very briefly, what the zero tolerance 
policy was and how broad—what it was. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, the zero tolerance policies announced in April 
2018 required U.S. Attorneys along the Southwest border to pros-
ecute all illegal entry cases or attempted illegal entry cases re-
ferred to them by the Department of Homeland Security, even if 
they were misdemeanor violations. 

So, the intent was to prosecute every single case, misdemeanor 
or felony. 

Mr. KHANNA. Give us an example of things, misdemeanors that 
were prosecuted? I mean, things that we had never done this be-
fore, right, in our country’s history but what are examples of mis-
demeanors that started to get prosecuted? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, the difference between the misdemeanor and 
the felony, it is a misdemeanor to seek to cross the border illegally 
or to actually cross the border illegally in the absence of any abro-
gating factors such as if you don’t have a prior felony or prior con-
viction, if you are not carrying drugs or guns or other para-
phernalia. 

If you are simply crossing the border illegally, without any of 
those other overlays, that is a misdemeanor. Traditionally, those 
cases were handled through the administrative deportation process, 
not the criminal process. There were exceptions. 

There were occasions through certain efforts to seek to do those 
over the years. But those were the exceptions rather than the 
norm. 
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Mr. KHANNA. So, basically, then what you are saying is under 
the Reagan Administration and the Bush Administration, this 
other Bush Administration, these cases—it wasn’t a blanket pros-
ecution of everyone who came across the borders and what the 
Trump administration basically did was blanket prosecution. If you 
come across the border you are going to be prosecuted. Is that a 
fair—— 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is my general understanding. There could 
have been exceptions for particular U.S. Attorneys and particular 
unique circumstances. But our general understanding is that that 
was generally the case. 

Mr. KHANNA. And when you are going to take such a move as 
overturning precedent that Reagan and Clinton and Bushes had 
set up that called for blanket prosecution, did they consult the U.S. 
Marshals Service when they took this position? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. They did not in advance of announcing the policy 
in April 2018. 

Mr. KHANNA. And that is odd, right, because the U.S. Marshals 
Service is going to be, as part of the Department of Justice and 
they would be responsible for implementing this? Wouldn’t you 
want to know what kind of burden this is going to put on your 
Marshals Service? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. It is critical. The marshals take custody of the 
defendant and they have to find a place for that defendant to have 
a jail cell. They are taken into the custody of the Justice Depart-
ment through the Marshals Service. 

The Justice Department has a limited number of jail cells and 
if you are going to add hundreds of new defendants at each district, 
they have got to find places for those individuals. 

And as we detail here, it resulted in requiring them to triple 
bunk inmates in some instances and it ended up resulting in a 
$200 million plus shortfall for the Marshals Service. 

Mr. KHANNA. What I found most shocking about your report is, 
though, they didn’t have—they had no conversations, no discus-
sions, correct, with—— 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct, in advance of that April an-
nouncement. 

Mr. KHANNA. And the Marshals Service found in an assessment 
that we would—they would continue to provide the best level effort 
to comply but there would inevitably be, quote, ‘‘a degradation of 
service and security.’’ 

Inspector General Horowitz, what is meant by a degradation of 
service and security? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, the impact on the Marshals Service, in addi-
tion to having to find bed space for the additional defendants, they 
also need marshals to help manage those defendants, right, and 
take them into custody and do all the processing. 

That meant pulling people off of other job responsibilities, which 
has a cascading effect on, as we noted here through various docu-
ments we saw, the Marshals Service ability to continue to go out 
and execute arrest warrants, which is a core Marshals Service 
function. 
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Mr. KHANNA. Hasn’t it made us less secure as a country because 
of it diverting marshals’ resources away from things that were crit-
ical? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, as we note in here, that is certainly what 
the marshals expressed concern about, precisely that issue. 

Mr. KHANNA. And that is because of the zero tolerance policy, 
correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That that was one of the impacts on them of the 
zero tolerance policy regarding your concern. 

Mr. KHANNA. The U.S. Marshals Service is about protecting just 
more than politicians. You are saying the zero tolerance policy 
wasn’t just inhumane with the bed issue but actually made our 
country less secure, from their perspective, according to—— 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Again, that is, you know, what we found in the 
records of the Marshals Service and what we were told by the Mar-
shals Service. 

Mr. KHANNA. And last question, they have a $210 million deficit 
today. Is that also because of this zero tolerance policy? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, they had a $227 million or so hole in their 
budget back in the 2018–2019 time period. Congress had to do an 
emergency appropriation for them and the department had to re-
program other moneys to make up for that hole in their budget so 
that they could pay their costs. 

Mr. KHANNA. Thank you. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Louisiana, Mr. Higgins, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. HIGGINS. Thank you, Chairwoman and Ranking Member 

Comer. Thank you for holding today’s hearing regarding the DOJ 
IG report on the Trump administration’s immigrant child separa-
tion policy. 

Our Founding Fathers delivered us a representative republic 
that welcomes any person to become a part of this great country 
and to participate in the American dream while balancing the rule 
of law. 

For decades our country has struggled with this balance. How do 
we as a country enforce our laws and principles and protect our 
citizens while at the same time maintaining decency and compas-
sion for those that are truly seeking refuge in our country? 

This should be a bipartisan effort to determine that balance. In 
addition to being a member of this committee, I serve as a member 
on the Homeland Security Committee and as the ranking member 
of the Border Security Facilitation and Operations Subcommittee. 

I have seen in person the challenges we face at our Nation’s 
southern border, and I have to say we have serious challenges that 
are only further complicated by the Biden administration’s recent 
actions. 

In a video I am about to show you, you will see how, more than 
ever, we need a strong secure border. Letting thousands of immi-
grants come here illegally that serves no good purpose, especially 
our citizens and those that have come here legally. We are a nation 
of opportunity and that should be embraced and continued. But we 
are, first, a nation of law. 

I ask that committee staff please start the video. 
[Video shown.] 
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Mr. JOHNSON. Madam Speaker, I have a point of order. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman is not recognized. 
Mr. JOHNSON. Parliamentary inquiry, Madam Chair. 
Mr. HIGGINS. Madam Chair, reclaiming my—— 
Ms. TLAIB. Will the gentleman please state the parliamentarian 

inquiry? 
Mr. HIGGINS. Madam Chair, please note the time. 
Ms. TLAIB. Yes, we will. 
Mr. JOHNSON. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Is it permissible for a member to show a video that has not been 

shared with the—with the other party prior to airing it in the—in 
a full committee meeting? Is that permissible under our—— 

Ms. TLAIB. Yes. Member Johnson, I believe that the video was re-
viewed, according to our rules, with our committee staff. 

Mr. JOHNSON. Thank you. I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. Mr. Higgins, you are now recognized. 
Mr. HIGGINS. Thank you, Madam Chair. I appreciate my col-

league’s concern. I would also appreciate in the future that the in-
quiry be restrained until a video that—obviously, we try and follow 
the rules around here—has been completed. 

Mr. JOHNSON. Well, it just seemed to be a hatchet job put to-
gether by the—put together by a partisan—— 

Mr. HIGGINS. Reclaiming my time. Madam Chair, please note 
the—the chair lady get order in the committee, please? 

Ms. TLAIB. Mr. Higgins—time. Mr. Higgins, you are recognized. 
Mr. HIGGINS. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Inspector General Horowitz, you are familiar with DOJ numbers, 

are you not? Do you know how many American citizens that are 
parents of minor children are incarcerated in American incarcer-
ation system today? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman—— 
Mr. HIGGINS. In the interest of time, I will give you the answer. 

It is about 750,000 American parents of minor children are incar-
cerated in our jails today, in our country. About 10 million arrests 
take place each year. These are DOJ numbers. About 600,000 of 
those are juveniles. 

When we make an arrest, do we ask that arrested person, where 
is your kid? I have to take you to jail. Let us stop and pick up your 
kid. Do we bring those children to a jail? The answer is no. 

When we arrest a juvenile, we contact that juvenile’s parents. 
But if that juvenile is placed in a juvenile detention center, do we 
put that parent in that juvenile detention center? No. 

So, it is very clear that if you don’t want to be separated from 
your family, I suggest you don’t commit a crime that is going to 
cause you to get arrested, and I encourage the scores, hundreds of 
thousands, that intend to cross our southern border over the course 
of this next year—— 

Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. HIGGINS [continuing]. That if you bring a kid with you, ex-

pect to get separated from your child because we don’t put children 
in jail—— 

Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. HIGGINS [continuing]. In America unless they have com-

mitted a crime. 
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Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from Missouri, Ms. Bush, is now 

recognized for five minutes. 
Ms. BUSH [continuing]. And I thank you, Madam Chair, for con-

vening this important hearing. 
As I sit here today, I am reminded of a time as a young mother 

when I lost sight of my daughter in a clothing store. It was only 
a matter of seconds, but I felt a feeling of doom, of absolute dread, 
thinking, where is my child. Is she hurt? Is she calling out for me? 
I felt like the world was crashing down on me. 

Now, imagine feeling that feeling for 1,034 days. That is how 
long it has been since this policy was first announced, since moth-
ers, fathers, and families first feared never seeing their child again. 

I am also thinking about St. Louis and the many years I spent 
in the streets as an organizer in our hospitals, as a nurse, and in 
our safe houses of pastors, counseling families who have experi-
enced trauma and violence. 

Family separation is rooted in our Nation’s history, let us be 
clear, harking back to black children being torn from their mothers’ 
arms at slave auction blocks, including the very courthouse that 
now forms part of the iconic St. Louis skyline. 

But these historic crimes against humanity didn’t only happen in 
St. Louis. Our country has forcibly removed Native children from 
their families. We separated Japanese children from their parents 
in internment camps. The scars of white supremacy are a trauma 
in our Nation’s DNA. It is a lasting trauma that will stay with 
these children and their families forever. 

Mr. Horowitz, your investigation revealed that former Attorney 
General Jeff Sessions was a driving force of the zero tolerance pol-
icy, and though Stephen Miller is not named in your report, let us 
not forget that he played a central role in designing and carrying 
out this policy. 

White supremacy is a disease that turns cruel and hateful ideas 
into cruel and hateful policies that affect people. 

Inspector General Horowitz, according to your report, at least 
two parents were told by officers that their children were being 
taken for a bath. That was the last time they saw their children. 

In your experience, is it ever appropriate for law enforcement to 
deceive parents about their minor children in this way? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. I can’t think of a circumstance, Congresswoman, 
where that would be appropriate. 

Ms. BUSH. Thank you. 
Did you find any evidence that AG Sessions or Deputy AG 

Rosenstein took any action to determine the trauma, the anxiety, 
and the isolation imposed on small children and all children as a 
result of this practice? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Our concern was that there wasn’t a sufficient ef-
fort to try and understand how this would happen and how it 
would impact the ability to reunify later and the mistaken under-
standing that could have been learned. But that simply couldn’t 
happen promptly in order to ensure reunification in a timely man-
ner. 

Ms. BUSH. OK. Well, it has become strikingly clear that though 
the zero tolerance policy is over, the impact endures. This is espe-
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cially the case given the lasting impacts of the criminal charges 
lodged against these parents. 

In your report, Mr. Horowitz, you described the DOJ’s focus on 
increasing prosecutions as, quote, ‘‘single-minded,’’ end quote. 

Can you restate for this record, please, the Department of Jus-
tice—the Department of Justice knowingly enacted the zero toler-
ance policy with the understanding that it would impose stronger 
criminal charges on family unit adults and force children away 
from their parents. Is that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. That was, certainly, the under-
standing of Attorney General Sessions in our—as we found in our 
report when he announced the zero tolerance policy in April 2018 
and his effort to encourage DHS to change its policy, which it did 
on May 4, to authorize or to start sending adult family members 
for criminal prosecution. 

Ms. BUSH. So, in your estimation, would you say that this policy 
led to an increase in the number of felony and/or misdemeanor 
charges filed? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, it certainly resulted in a substantial in-
crease in the number of misdemeanors. I believe it also resulted in 
a significant increase in the number of felonies but I would have 
to followup on that. 

Ms. BUSH. Mr. Horowitz, who would have the answers to these 
questions? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, we can, certainly, get you the figures, Con-
gresswoman, from here at the department on the increase in pros-
ecutions. I just don’t have them right in front of me. 

Ms. BUSH. Thank you. 
I can never know the heartache of spending months and years 

without knowing if my child was in danger, hurt, or sick. But I do 
know any parent would do anything that they can to see their child 
again. It is essential that we reunite these families together. 

I strongly believe that we must remove the threat of criminaliza-
tion and provide families with full amnesty and clear their records. 
This is the absolute least we can do. 

Thank you, and I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Texas, Mr. Sessions, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. SESSIONS. Thank you very much. I assume I can be seen and 

heard at this time. Madam Chairman, I assume I can be. 
Ms. TLAIB. Yes, we see you. 
Mr. SESSIONS. Yes. Thank you very much. 
What a delight it is for me to be with you today. Mr. Horowitz, 

thank you very much. 
Mr. Horowitz, is this a practice that takes place at our airports 

all across the United States of America where there is a less than 
adult person that might be a minor child that is with an adult? Are 
they questioned about the status of what they are doing with that 
child? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. You are talking about with domestic flights in 
the U.S.? 

Mr. SESSIONS. Absolutely, at every single airport in the United 
States and port of entry in the United States of America. 
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Mr. HOROWITZ. Mm-hmm. Yes, they are asked if the two of them 
are together and the relationship. 

Mr. SESSIONS. What would happen if I were to enter an airport 
with someone that was not my child? What process would take 
place here in the United States with American United States citi-
zens? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, I think if you are traveling domestically— 
I am not sure whether there would be much differently done. If you 
are with an adult and a child you don’t necessarily have to be—— 

Mr. SESSIONS. But you would be asked. You would be asked and 
expected to provide information, and when someone said, that is 
not my child, what would happen? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, I am not sure what would happen on a do-
mestic flight. Internationally, there are issues that result because 
of Federal laws about international parental kidnapping and other 
issues where you want to make sure before someone is allowed to 
leave the country with a child that they, in fact, have authority to 
go with that child inside the country. 

Mr. SESSIONS. Do you believe that that process or what should 
be that process for people who are entering the United States of 
America—there is some suggestion that we should not even ask 
who these people are and determine who they are. 

But if a person was not that direct parent, what should happen 
to that child and what should be the question that is asked and 
action by the United States Border Patrol? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, let me say, this is—you know, obviously, 
this is a Department of Homeland Security Border Patrol, as you 
said, issue and policy. I am presuming that with—in any instance, 
they are looking to figure out who the two people are in actuality 
and, indeed, as we noted here and as I mentioned earlier, that is 
part of the issue with the assumption that all of this could have 
happened so quickly, right. 

That is precisely the issue with expecting a prosecution to hap-
pen in the same day, right. You want people to have that ability 
to know who people really are. 

Mr. SESSIONS. Right. But before you go to prosecution, I am talk-
ing about process. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. No, right. 
Mr. SESSIONS. I was down on the border in 1914, 1915, and 1916. 

I saw these cages that are referred to as cages. It was a detention 
facility. It was placing people in areas until they could be properly 
vetted and looked at that they placed them in them, all along the 
border, especially in the Southern District of Texas, in the Western 
District of Texas, and these people were given food and clothing. 
But they were makeshift operations because of the overwhelming 
number of people who were there. 

Second, I saw firsthand how these agents would attempt to de-
termine who was traveling with who, and many times it became a 
whisper about, say that is your child. 

But when people were then—under the Obama years, then 
agents took to really try and make sure that there was not a mis-
match of child—moving children across illegally or an exploitation 
perspective. 
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They would separate those people, especially with younger boys 
and younger girls, and they would have a very, very difficult time. 
These were some of the things we struggled with during President 
Obama’s presidency and it was an overwhelming number. 

I want you to know that I applaud the work that you are doing. 
I applaud the work of being as a watchdog. But when tens of thou-
sands of people come across and they are at the detention—— 

Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. SESSIONS. Thank you very much, Chairwoman. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Vermont, Mr. Welch, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. WELCH. Thank you very much. Thanks very much for your 

work, Inspector. 
The zero tolerance policy, obviously, was about intimidating fam-

ilies, and the zero tolerance policy, where it implemented as a tac-
tic taking a child from the parent, was the most effective way of 
intimidating. 

Do you have any information about how it is that despite the fact 
they were going to implement this policy there was no systematic 
way to maintain knowledge as to where a child was sent, and we 
still have many children who are separated from their families? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, based on—according to court filings, there 
are—there is still an ongoing problem with reuniting children who 
were separated back during this 2018 time period with their adult 
family unit members, and it is precisely the problem with failing 
to consider these issues before you implement the policy, then wait-
ing until afterwards to see what they are and, as we noted earlier, 
the 2017 El Paso Initiative highlighted some of the problems that 
DHS and HHS were having with keeping track of the children and 
their parents. 

Mr. WELCH. So, do you—in your report, just describe what steps 
were not taken or even what steps were taken to have a coordi-
nated approach so that leaving aside the immorality of taking chil-
dren from parents, the absolute obligation that we had—this gov-
ernment had in using its authority to maintain information so that 
when there was going to be a reunification we would know who to 
call and where the child was. Was there anything in there that 
they did to be prepared for that? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. There was, frankly, little to nothing that we 
found that showed preparation for interagency coordination, U.S. 
Attorney coordination with other executive branch agencies, par-
ticularly HHS, or the courts on how to do this. There weren’t the 
most rudimentary steps taken before the April announcement. 

Mr. WELCH. All right. So, aside from the obvious cruelty of tak-
ing a child from parents, there was the incompetence in the admin-
istration of this cruel policy. Is that a fair statement? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. There was incompetence in failing to consider 
what the issues were and, frankly, the mistaken belief that you 
could do all this in a day, the prosecution, right. 

This was—it was, potentially, founded on the belief that you 
could get an adult from DHS custody to the Marshals Service cus-
tody, get them in front of the judge, have them plead—get them a 
lawyer, have them plead guilty, have them sentenced, and get 
them back to DHS within 72 hours so that the child wasn’t sepa-



34 

rated and sent to HHS, and that, as we lay out here, was a prac-
tical impossibility in almost all cases. 

Mr. WELCH. Well, I really appreciate the detail in your report be-
cause what it reveals, aside from the obvious cruelty of the policy, 
is that we had a government that was not paying attention to the 
function that an executive has to make things work as opposed to 
simply make pronouncements that had a political orientation. 

So, I thank you for your work, and I yield back. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Pennsylvania, Mr. Keller, is rec-

ognized for five minutes. 
Mr. KELLER. Thank you, Madam Chair. I appreciate being part 

of the hearing today. 
However, I can’t help but point out that while there were some 

problems with the zero tolerance policy, the Trump administration 
abandoned this initiative over two years ago and made thousands 
of pages of documents available to this committee for investigation. 

I would also note that a flawed policy rollout does not make bor-
der security any less important or make the consequences of open 
border policy any less dangerous and irresponsible. 

DHS concluded that border barriers are a critical component get-
ting operational control of the border and allow Border Patrol 
agents to decide where border crossings take place and apprehend 
individuals on our own terms. 

Yet, the Biden administration has taken executive action to stop 
barrier construction, working firmly against congressional intent of 
appropriating funds specifically to construct a barrier along the 
southern border in the interest of national security. 

Mr. Horowitz, your report indicates that the rollout of the zero 
tolerance policy failed to consult various agencies about its details. 
In an effort to improve DOJ policy rollouts in the future, what spe-
cifically should be done to ensure better agency cooperation? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, we made a recommendation as to that, that 
the department put in place a policy that makes it explicitly clear 
that—to the stakeholder to—the components of the department 
that when you undertake a significant policy change that cuts 
across DOJ components and executive branch agencies that you 
make sure to consult with them in advance. 

You know, as I noted earlier, that may seem obvious. But, as we 
note here, it didn’t happen and—— 

Mr. KELLER. So, when did they make the change? When did that 
change in policy made? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, we are waiting for a report back from the de-
partment on what they have done to implement it. The outgoing 
acting attorney general, Mr. Rosen, indicated they would be taking 
that—undertaking that effort and we are expecting a report within 
the next month or two. 

Mr. KELLER. So, the Trump administration had already made the 
decision to make that correction and have the coordination? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. They supported and agreed with the rec-
ommendation. 

Mr. KELLER. OK. Several DHS personnel testified before this 
committee in 2019 recommending policy changes such as modifying 
the Flores settlement to allow us to keep immigrant families to-
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gether past the 20-day threshold, improving the Trafficking Vic-
tims Protection Reauthorization Act by allowing the repatriation of 
children to noncontiguous countries, and challenging the credible 
fear standard to allow families to more easily prove an asylum 
issue. 

Can you speak to these recommendations and what overlap there 
might be with your report? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Certainly, and, of course, the policy decision is 
Congress’ and the executive branch. But what we found was that 
the provisions in the Flores settlement and that had been statu-
torily enacted, as you indicated, put time limits on how long chil-
dren could be kept in custody with DHS detention facilities and a 
misunderstanding at the Justice Department at what that meant 
with the ability to undertake a criminal prosecution and reunify 
the parent with the child before the child was sent by DHS to 
Homeland—to Health and Human Services as required by the law. 

Mr. KELLER. OK. Thank you. 
I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from Florida, Ms. Wasserman 

Schultz, is recognized for five minutes. 
Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ. Thank you. Sorry, my arrow was not 

going to my mute button. 
[Laughter.] 
Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ. Thank you so much, Madam Chair, 

and congratulations. You are doing a bang-up job. 
Inspector General Horowitz, I appreciate you appearing before 

the committee today. I would like you to help us understand who 
knew what and when as the zero tolerance policy was developed by 
the Department of Justice. 

I think the timeline could inform the motivation behind this pol-
icy. Attorney General Sessions announced the zero tolerance policy 
on April 6, 2018. According to your report, only two days earlier on 
April 4 Attorney General Sessions directed the creation of a memo-
randum that would accomplish this goal of a zero tolerance pros-
ecution policy at the border. 

On that same day, a top DOJ official reached out to the five 
Southwest border U.S. Attorneys to ask if there was anything, 
quote, ‘‘operationally objectionable.’’ 

So, my first question is when the staff policy directive was pro-
vided to those U.S. Attorneys on April 4, were they aware a zero 
tolerance policy would result in children being separated from their 
families? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We were told by them and by the record we saw 
that they were not. They assumed that the policy at DHS, the long- 
standing policy would continue of not referring adult members, and 
no one said to them that there was any thought being given to 
changing that policy. 

Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ. OK. And were they made aware that 
such a policy would result in child separations before the formal 
announcement of the policy two days later? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. They were not made aware until at the earliest, 
roughly, May 1. 

Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ. Wow. OK. So, at the time the Depart-
ment of Justice announced the zero tolerance policy, which is a 
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change that would lead to the forced separation of thousands of 
children from their families, the very attorneys who were expected 
to carry it out were not informed of these dire and calamitous im-
plications. Is that a fair assessment? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct, and I will add, Congresswoman, 
the policy they were shown on April 4 and that was announced on 
April 6, had a key phrase in there, which was ‘‘to the extent prac-
ticable.’’ 

So, it provided that they would—all cases would be prosecuted to 
the extent practicable, which the U.S. Attorneys told us they be-
lieved and others told us they believed gave them some discretion 
in deciding which cases to prosecute, recognizing they didn’t still 
appreciate that that would also be including family referrals of 
adult family unit members. 

Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ. OK. And but—now this is extremely 
appalling. Your review found that Attorney General Sessions him-
self was aware that the implementation of zero tolerance would 
lead to the separation of families. He knew just what it would do. 
Isn’t that right? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That was, certainly, his intention when he an-
nounced the policy on April 6. 

Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ. And so because Sessions knew the 
chaos and suffering this policy would cause, he needed to hide and 
rush it out the door without any vetting. The cruelty of this policy 
was the point, and Jeff Sessions would not be deterred. 

The deception that former Attorney General Sessions used to 
cover up the vicious goals at the heart of this policy is deeply dis-
turbing and for anyone who took part in or defends such a cold- 
blooded policy to this day, good luck settling up that merciless be-
havior with your maker. 

Thank you, Madam Chair. I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Arizona, Mr. Biggs, is recognized 

for five minutes. 
Mr. BIGGS. Thank you, Madam Chair, and Inspector General 

Horowitz, good to see you again—— 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Good to see you. 
Mr. BIGGS [continuing]. Across the table again, but this will have 

to do, I guess. 
Just a basic fundamental question. Should DHS and DOJ enforce 

the law? 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Certainly. 
Mr. BIGGS. Yes. So, in 8 U.S.C. Section 1325, it makes it a crime 

to enter this country illegally, right? 
Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Mr. BIGGS. And you said earlier—you were talking about the 

misdemeanor. If you look under 8 U.S.C. 1325 you are going to find 
that any alien who crosses the first time that is a misdemeanor; 
every other time is a felony. Is that right? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct, and there are other aggregating 
factors that could make it into a felony. 

Mr. BIGGS. Exactly. Right. So, your report states that prior prac-
tice was not to prosecute family units or even the adult members 
of family units, and that is what people like would say that is the 
catch and release program, right? 
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Some of us would say that was an incentive or magnet for people 
to come to this country illegally. Does 8 U.S.C. Section 1325 have 
an exception for adults if they are part of a family unit, an exemp-
tion from prosecution, if you will? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. No, it does not contain such an exception. 
Mr. BIGGS. So, we are focusing on old policies and the rollout was 

not good. There is anybody that would say it was. It didn’t—and 
it was a very short-lived policy that affected a good number of chil-
dren and families, and also those who were exploiting as well. 

And I would suggest that the policy that we are talking about 
today also puts children in danger and exploitation and being traf-
ficked, and then some of the things that are being proposed by this 
administration—I am going to review them real quickly—also be-
come magnets or incentives: stopping construction of the wall, end-
ing new enrollments in the MPP, an executive order that suggests 
that the asylum cooperative agreements with Guatemala, El Sal-
vador, and Honduras are going to end, potentially ending the 
CDC’s Title 42 order, preventing ICE from using terms such as 
‘‘alien’’ and stopping deportations for 100 days, which has, luckily, 
been blocked, and last but not least, the biggest magnet of them 
all is talk of amnesty. 

And so if the past is any indicator, open border policies and these 
types of policies actually incentivize people to come to this country 
and bring children with them, even those that aren’t their own, 
and that allows cartels and human smugglers to exploit children in 
a way that I have seen firsthand. 

I have watched the cracking of cases nationwide originating in 
Yuma, tracking down all the way to Charleston, South Carolina, 
where two young boys were repeatedly used as, basically, rent-a- 
childs, unfortunately, for those poor exploited children, to bring 
adults, unscrupulous adults, trying to use the family policy—family 
release policy. 

In Fiscal Year 2013, there were 14,855 apprehensions of family 
units on the Southwest border. But by 2018, there were 107,000 
and in 2019 there were 473,000 family units apprehended on the 
Southwest border. 

I also want to highlight that the Biden administration antici-
pates this surge. They have opened up, as my friend from Georgia 
mentioned earlier, Mr. Hice, a new facility—not a new facility but 
they are reopening the Carizzo Springs facility, which received 
such disapprobation from my colleagues across the aisle not too 
long ago. 

So, I would suggest that we need to focus on the implications of 
the current administration’s policies. 

Now, I want to turn for a second to the Ms. L case. Mr. Horowitz, 
are you familiar with the Ms. L case? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Generally, I am. But not in the weeds, or specifi-
cally, Congressman. 

Mr. BIGGS. OK. So, you would not—you would not know that of 
the original 3,000 children reportedly subject to the Ms. L case— 
and they have found many placements, reunified many—but right 
now the number looks to be somewhere between 400 and 500 chil-
dren that are not unified under the Ms. L case. Are you familiar 
with that? 
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Mr. HOROWITZ. I am. The number I had seen was just over 500 
but it could be more recently reduced. I haven’t been following it 
as closely. 

Mr. BIGGS. All right. Do you—any idea why we haven’t been able 
to reunify some of those? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. I can’t say I know the—you know, the 500-plus 
cases and how those came about and what those particular cir-
cumstances are. 

Mr. BIGGS. Thanks for being here today, Inspector General. 
And Madam Chair, I have some documents I would like to enter 

into the record. Three of them are newspaper articles. One is a let-
ter that I led with a number of my colleagues. ‘‘Biden Surge: 3,500 
Migrants Caught at Border Daily, ’I’m Scared at What’s Coming’ ’’ 
from The Washington Examiner. ‘‘Biden Administration Prepares to 
Open an Overflow Facility for Migrant Children’’ on CNN. ‘‘Eleven 
Iranians Arrested in Arizona After Jumping U.S.-Mexico Border,’’ 
The Washington Times. And then my letter dated February 4 today 
to the Honorable Alejandro Mayorkas, the U.S. Department of 
Homeland Security. 

Ms. TLAIB. Without objection. 
Mr. BIGGS. Thank you. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from New York, Ms. Ocasio-Cortez, 

is recognized for five minutes. 
Ms. OCASIO-CORTEZ. Thank you so much, Chairwoman. 
Inspector General Horowitz, thank you so much, along with the 

rest of our witnesses, for being here today. While reading through 
your report, I couldn’t help but notice how time and again concerns 
about the child separation policy were raised by government offi-
cials during the time, only to be dismissed by Attorney General 
Sessions and his top DOJ advisors. 

Officials reported up to Sessions and his top advisors that they 
could not track children and, again, this was during that time. 
They reported that resources were being stretched to the breaking 
point and U.S. Attorneys reported that they could not even answer 
basic questions in court about the children that were being sepa-
rated. 

So, I wanted to know, Inspector General Horowitz, was it your 
finding that Attorney General Sessions and his top advisors pushed 
to continue all prosecutions under the zero tolerance policy and, ef-
fectively, kind of disregarded these concerns? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Yes. So, what we found was that this under-
standing that somehow this could happen in a day, prosecutions, 
or within 72 hours became readily apparent, as you indicated, Con-
gresswoman. Once it was implemented on May 4, going forward, 
reports kept coming in through U.S. Attorneys, meetings that were 
occurring, that this was a problem, that prosecutions weren’t hap-
pening in that time period. And so that misunderstanding became 
clear, and that HHS and DHS were having trouble reuniting the 
adults, once they were prosecuted and sent back, with the child. 

That information became apparent, and it was even highlighted, 
frankly, beforehand, again, as we talked about earlier, with the El 
Paso Initiative, which the department got a briefing on in late De-
cember and had they asked these same problems, you know, were 
readily apparent from that initiative. 
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Ms. OCASIO-CORTEZ. I was also struck that when your office 
interviewed these former DOJ officials, they all tried to deflect 
blame and when asked about the rampant difficulties that other 
agencies had in tracking and reunifying families, the former Dep-
uty Attorney General Rosenstein said, quote, ‘‘That is an issue that 
they should have flagged. I just don’t see that as a DOJ equity.’’ 

Now, when top DOJ officials learned that children were being 
held by Border Patrol for longer than 72 hours, which was violating 
Federal law, did DOJ stop the zero tolerance policy? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, as all of this was occurring in May and these 
reports were coming out, there was no change in the zero tolerance 
policy. It only ended on June 20 with the executive order being 
issued that ceased it to be allowed to go forward. 

Ms. OCASIO-CORTEZ. So, they—so they didn’t. They knew that 
children were being held longer than 72 hours. They knew that 
Federal law was being violated in the detention of these children 
and they—and they continued the policy anyway. 

In fact, it seems Sessions dismissed this issue by pushing for 
even faster prosecution, saying, quote, ‘‘We are in post-9/11 mode.’’ 

You know, Deputy Attorney General Rosenstein claimed that it— 
that he would have supported the U.S. Attorneys if they said they 
would no longer prosecute all these parents. But Mr. Rosenstein 
also noted that AG Sessions was, quote, adamant that this program 
needs to continue, right? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. That is what we were told and 
that even if information started coming in from the U.S. Attorneys 
that there was this problem with unifying children who had gone 
to HHS. 

That was the response they heard from the department leader-
ship, that this was a problem that was not going to be addressed 
through changing the policy and, after all, you know, if the depart-
ment had not taken the cases, obviously, the separations wouldn’t 
have occurred. It was the department that had to accept the cases 
for prosecution. 

Ms. OCASIO-CORTEZ. So, I think that really gets to the heart of 
this matter, which is that this was a deliberate choice. You know, 
whether or not, like, were these DOJ officials really powerless to 
stop these separations. It seems that they weren’t. 

Inspector General Horowitz, what would have happened if the— 
if AG Sessions and the Justice Department simply said that they 
were going to return to prior longstanding policy and no longer 
prosecute all arriving parents? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. If the department stopped agreeing to accept 
these adults for prosecution, it wouldn’t, obviously, have been 
transferred to the Marshals Service. 

They would have remained in DHS custody with the child that 
they were traveling. The child then wouldn’t have been separated 
by being sent to HHS because they wouldn’t have been unaccom-
panied. And so the separations would have stopped. 

Ms. OCASIO-CORTEZ. Thank you. Thank you very much. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from New Mexico, Ms. Herrell, is 

recognized for five minutes. 
Ms. HERRELL. Thank you, Madam Chair, and thank you, Mr. 

Horowitz. I believe your report is very important. 
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I do want to kind of piggyback on what Congressman Higgins 
said—played earlier, that President Trump eliminated loopholes in 
the asylum laws, increased funding for the border security, and 
brought calm to the chaos that we witnessed in 2018 and 2019 
along the border. Abruptly ending the successful initiatives will 
only bring back those days of chaos. 

In regard to child separation, it is clear the court reinterpreta-
tion of the Flores agreement is driving illegal immigration. Those 
with children used this agreement to skirt the consequences of our 
immigration system, and without consequences, illegal immigration 
will only skyrocket. 

Families should be kept together during their immigration proce-
dures. The reinterpretation of the Flores settlement agreement for-
bids that. It is important to ensure that there is humane care for 
those in custody. 

Perversely, reverting to catch and release encourages the dan-
gerous journey and puts more lives at risk to smugglers and cartels 
that prey on migrants. Many are beaten, raped, and killed on the 
journey to the United States. 

The answer is that cases need to be processed faster. However, 
immigration law cannot simply be ignored. I will work with any of 
my colleagues who want to streamline the immigration process by 
adding more judges, immigration lawyers, and courtrooms. 

No one wants prolonged detention. Adding resourcing to Immi-
gration and Customs Enforcement and the Department of Justice, 
not just defunding them as some of my colleagues have proposed, 
will help rapidly adjudicate immigration cases and minimize time 
in custody. 

We must also face the reality that most of these cases likely are 
not valid asylum cases. Historically, only about 21 percent of appli-
cants receive asylum. Without detention, many illegal immigrants 
will show up to court and will not obey court orders of removal. 

According to ICE, only 7 percent of family units with orders of 
removal are deported when not held in custody. Such statistics only 
exacerbate the immigration crisis and lead to more migrants taking 
this dangerous journey. 

Inspector Horowitz, would you agree that the Flores settlement 
agreement as interpreted by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 
has made it impossible to hold families together during the course 
of their immigration proceedings? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congresswoman, I am not really in a position to 
comment on the impact of the Flores settlement. That wasn’t—I 
can as to what it had here and the impact it had in this situation. 
But, more broadly speaking, we didn’t look at that and that would, 
largely, be a Department of Homeland Security impact as well. 

Ms. HERRELL. Right. 
And, Madam Chair and Inspector, thank you. This is something 

maybe we need to look at further as we move through this process. 
I want to thank the chairwoman and members for holding this 

meeting and I yield back my time. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Maryland, Mr. Sarbanes, is rec-

ognized for five minutes. 
Mr. SARBANES. Thank you, Madam Chair. Can you hear me OK? 
Ms. TLAIB. Yes, sir, we can. 
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Mr. SARBANES. Thank you. Inspector General Horowitz, thank 
you for your presentation today, your work not just on this matter 
but on so many, which has been a critical resource for this com-
mittee and for Congress over a period of many, many years. I want 
to thank you for that. 

I wondered—I know that this is, largely, a look back hearing. 
That is the focus of it. But I wondered if you might speak to what 
you think the opportunities for reunification of these children with 
their parents and their families might be through the lens of the 
breakdowns you saw from the review that you did. 

So, in other words, presumably, there is evidence that you discov-
ered that when separations occurred the records that should have 
been kept were not kept. 

The sort of custodial sequence of events wasn’t properly cap-
tured, et cetera, and that must give you some insight and perspec-
tive as to how difficult it is going to be to try to reunify these chil-
dren with their parents. 

So, if you could maybe speak broadly to that but also maybe 
identify two or three or four breakdowns in the process that you 
were able to review that you think are going to be contributing fac-
tors to the challenge that we will now have in trying to reunify 
these families. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Right. Well, let me say, Congressman, that, you 
know, in the first instance, you would expect if anyone was going 
to be undertaking such a policy in the future, going forward, that 
you would, at a minimum, want to get together with the key stake-
holders at the Justice Department, Department of Homeland Secu-
rity, Health and Human Services, and figure out how to create a 
effective recordkeeping system that would enable you to know who 
entered the country with which traveling companion, including a 
child, so that if one of those individuals gets separated from the 
others, you know who is with whom. 

That sounds obvious, but it didn’t happen here. And so you ended 
up in a situation where adults went to the Justice Department, 
children went to HHS, and DHS could connect the two and, as we 
noted, the Marshals Service didn’t have a relationship with HHS 
where they could connect the two. 

So, that is, obviously, with electronic records, computer records 
today. You would think that would be something that would be eas-
ily done. But it wasn’t done here. 

Mr. SARBANES. What is the implication of that for the efforts to 
reunify? Where do you expect that there is going to be the most dif-
ficulty in tracking or making these connections from one agency to 
the next? I mean, you have spoken broadly but can you be a little 
more specific? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, I think one of the bigger challenges and, of 
course, this is part of the litigation that is ongoing now, and so the 
civil division lawyers at the Justice Department who are handling 
it, along with those at DHS and HHS, have probably the best in-
sight into that. 

But my sense is, from looking at this and, you know, this is my 
informed information based on what we have looked at, is that 
some, if not many, of these adults or most of these adults had been 
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deported already and so they are in another country while the chil-
dren are still here. 

And if you haven’t taken the steps or didn’t take the steps back 
in 2018 to make sure you knew which adults were connected to 
which children, you now have to go through that process to make 
sure that the parent or adult coming forward is in fact the indi-
vidual connected to that child. You don’t want to create further 
problems. 

So, my sense is—— 
Mr. SARBANES. Let me ask you one more question. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. SARBANES. Oh, OK. I yield back. Thank you. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from South Carolina, Mr. Norman, is 

recognized for five minutes. 
Mr. NORMAN. Thank you, Chairman Tlaib. 
Inspector Horowitz, it looks like under the Biden administration 

we are going to be admitting millions of people coming across the 
border, 3,000 migrants from Honduras, vans everywhere. 

How is that going to affect—how is that going to affect the crisis 
we have with COVID? Will all of them be tested at the border? Will 
they go to the hospitals? How will that work? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, Congressman, I am not really in a position 
to answer that. You would really have to, and I can certainly help 
facilitate that, ask those at the Department of Homeland Security 
Border Patrol what their plans are with regard to how to handle 
that at this point in time. We didn’t look at that, and, again, it is 
a Department of Homeland Security Border Patrol question. 

Mr. NORMAN. Yes, but it affects Homeland Security. I mean, it 
falls under—if it doesn’t fall with you, who does it fall under? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, within Department of Homeland Security and 
their inspector general’s office and their oversight of Border Patrol, 
but also the Border Patrol directly. 

Mr. NORMAN. And so they—from your understanding, they will 
hire the doctors or will they go to the hospitals, or do you just now 
know? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. To be honest, I do not know how they plan to 
handle that. 

Mr. NORMAN. OK. You admit we have got a pandemic, don’t you? 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Oh, I, certainly, don’t deny we have a pandemic. 
Mr. NORMAN. And this probably won’t help it, I would think. But 

this goes to my next question. 
How can we improve the coordination between the DOJ, DHS, 

and HHS without adding more Federal debt and, I guess, being fair 
to the—to the immigrants that are going to be admitted into this 
country carte blanche? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman, having been in the Justice Depart-
ment on the prosecuting side and now as the inspector general, I 
don’t think it requires spending any money. 

I think it just requires getting the appropriate working group at 
a high level at those entities that sit down with the line level peo-
ple who know what is really going on day to day, and say OK, how 
do we make this work through our three agencies coordinating. 

It is, frankly, not, I don’t think, that complicated. It doesn’t re-
quire a lot of expense and, frankly, in today’s video age, you don’t 
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even have to travel to get in a room together. You can do it by 
video. 

Mr. NORMAN. So, is it your testimony that if we admit millions 
into this country it is not going to cost this country anything, par-
ticularly with the testing of—I guess, assume testing for the 
COVID and to make sure the pandemic doesn’t extend to 355 mil-
lion Americans? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. No, Congressman. What I was talking about was 
making sure there is a coordination between the three. I wasn’t 
talking about what they end up—how they end up implementing 
it. 

But the coordination, which was a basic flaw here, doesn’t re-
quire much other than meeting and understanding what the issues 
were as happened after the policy was implemented. But that 
should have been done beforehand. 

Mr. NORMAN. OK. But the coordination is going to result in ac-
tions. The actions are going to follow. So, when you admit that 
many people or if you took out that many people from the country 
that will have a financial impact, correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, yes, I would expect that putting in place 
certain steps would require some funding. 

Mr. NORMAN. Yes, a good many—a good deal of funding, I would 
guess. 

How long after the implementation of the zero tolerance policy 
was that executive order issued? Do you—are you—do you know? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. It was about six weeks. Well, I am sorry, it was 
about two and a half months after the zero tolerance policy was an-
nounced on April 8—I am sorry, April 6—as the president issued 
the executive order on June 20. 

Mr. NORMAN. OK. OK, Ms. Chairman. I yield back. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you, Congressman. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from California, Ms. Speier, is rec-

ognized for five minutes. 
Ms. SPEIER. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Inspector General, once again, you show we lucky we are that 

you are in the position that you are. Thank you for the service that 
you have given to us and the Department of Justice since 2012. 

I have had two trips to the border, one to McAllen, one to 
Brownsville, and I have seared in my memory two images in par-
ticular: a young girl, maybe four years old, in a cell at Border Pa-
trol sobbing because she had been separated from her mother and 
then hundreds of kids in cells throughout that region, and then a 
separate one where I was meeting with others who had been sepa-
rated from their children. Some of them were still breastfeeding 
their children and they didn’t know where they were. 

So, you have underscored for us how this was implemented with-
out any forethought and I have a few questions in particular. The 
record shows that child separations were harmful, traumatic, and 
chaotic, much more so than previously known. In fact, there were 
infants and toddlers that were separated from their families. 

Can you speak to whether or not DOJ officials knew that they 
were separating extremely young children from their parents? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. They, certainly, knew after implementation in 
May and June when complaints and questions started coming from 
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the Southwest border U.S. Attorneys, both their own concerns and 
the concerns they were hearing from judges about those separa-
tions and the fact that children, infants, toddlers, and young chil-
dren were being separated. 

Ms. SPEIER. And no special procedures were put in place to miti-
gate the trauma for these young children? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Ms. SPEIER. So, it was a truly callous act within the Department 

of Justice in not stepping in and providing some kind of mitigation. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. There was no effort to step in and change that. 

There were meetings and discussions, but until the executive order 
was issued on June 20 there was no changes to the approach. 

Ms. SPEIER. So, in your review, did you discover any physical and 
psychological harm that was done to these children? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We didn’t, Congresswoman, undertake that effort 
to look at the impact on the children, particularly since, you know, 
as has been talked about, there was an ongoing court case about 
that very—those very issues. 

Ms. SPEIER. You mentioned that there was over $200 million in 
budget deficit in the Marshals Service due to child separation. 
Have you been able to ascertain how much money has been spent 
as a result of this child separation disaster? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We didn’t get to an overall number. It would not 
only be, as you indicated, for the Justice Department, the Marshals 
Service. Obviously, also the additional costs for the U.S. Attorneys 
to the extent they added people to handle this. The courts would 
have had, potentially, some additional costs, DHS, HHS. We didn’t 
go in and look at what those other costs would be as well. 

Ms. SPEIER. Is that something you could undertake in short order 
without making it a massive effort to find out just within the De-
partment of Justice what the costs of child separation were? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Yes, we can, certainly, make the inquiries of the 
appropriate components here at the Department to see if they gath-
ered that data and what it would be, and we can also make contact 
with our counterparts in the OIGs at DHS and HHS and see if 
they have that data, based on the reviews they did. 

Ms. SPEIER. Madam Chair, I certainly would appreciate that if 
that would be appropriate. 

I would also like to ask you about the numbers. When it first be-
came apparent that children were being separated, the numbers 
were indicated to be, like, 400, 500. 

And yet, within that short timeframe of May to June, you esti-
mate that there were 3,000 children that were separated and prob-
ably much more over the course of the period in which this was in 
effect. 

Do you have any numbers that you could share with us or any 
evidence that there was an effort to tamp down the numbers? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, I have seen reports and numbers, largely, 
again, from the Department of Homeland Security Office of Inspec-
tor General and their work on this because DHS would be the 
keeper of what those numbers look like. 

The numbers that we have seen were in excess of 3,000 that they 
have reported. I have seen numbers reported as high as in the 
5,000 range. But, again, we will followup, Congresswoman, and let 
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you know what we have on that and what we can get from our 
counterparts at the OIGs. 

Ms. SPEIER. Thank you. My time has expired. I really appreciate 
your work. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you, Congresswoman. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Florida, Mr. Donalds, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Mr. DONALDS. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
To the IG, thanks so much for, you know, coming here and join-

ing us, bringing your report. 
You know, I think it was said by, you know, one of my colleagues 

a little bit ago that this is, you know, really more of a look back 
meeting, and I think it is always interesting to learn things from 
the past. 

Obviously, you know, some of the issues for the zero tolerance 
policies have already been discussed so no need to really belabor 
that point. 

I do think it is important that, you know, that this committee 
also take a look at what is currently happening and also what has 
happened, you know, as a result since the end of zero tolerance pol-
icy back in 2018. 

You know, Mr. Horowitz, I wonder if you can comment for the 
committee on what actually has occurred with respect to enforce-
ment after zero tolerance policy was ended by the previous admin-
istration in 2018. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman, I can’t really speak to in any detail 
what occurred after that other than understanding that the DHS 
went back to its prior historical practice of not referring adults for 
prosecution except in limited—very limited circumstances. 

Mr. DONALDS. OK. So, basically, in your words, what we have 
done since then is, you know, unfortunately, the spigot has just re-
opened and we are back to square one on the problem we do have, 
which is when people come to our border illegally they, essentially, 
are released into the United states, which does create other con-
sequences and other unintended consequences for the citizens of 
the United States and, actually, with respect to legal immigrants 
who do come through proper channels. 

The only other question I really have for you, Inspector, is, you 
know, right now the Biden administration is going through the 
halting of several immigration policies from the previous adminis-
tration. 

Can you speak to the halting of the MPP program—for everybody 
else who may not know, the Migrant Protection Protocols—and 
what the impact of that might actually be on the United States? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman, I am, obviously, aware of the pol-
icy. We haven’t done any work on that so I am not really in a posi-
tion to speak to what was going on beforehand and what may be 
occurring going forward in light of any changes that are—that have 
been happening. 

Mr. DONALDS. Well, what I think what I will do is I will just ex-
pound briefly. So, the MPP program, what it actually allowed for 
was the halting of people who are not legally admissible to the 
United States to actually have them held in Mexico as opposed to 
them coming to us on the border. 
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With President Biden halting that program, what we are seeing 
the results are caravans of people, whether they might be minors 
or adults, coming to our southern border illegally, which does cre-
ate issues not only for border enforcement, not only for—not only 
for the people who actually live on the southern border, our ranch-
ers and the like, but also creating some undue burdens on citizens 
here in the United States. 

So, I think it is important that if we are going to continue to do 
these look back oversight meetings, we actually also hold oversight 
meetings on what the current administration is doing and the re-
sults it will have not only on immigration policy but on the citizens 
at large. 

With that, I yield back the rest of my time. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from Illinois, Ms. Kelly, is recog-

nized for five minutes. 
Ms. KELLY. Thank you, Madam Chair. Thanks for calling this 

meeting and thanks to the witness. 
This new report from the DOJ IG is the latest in several non-

partisan reports from the last few years detailing the horrors of the 
Trump administration’s child separation policy. 

I wanted to use my time to highlight two previous reports from 
the DHS inspector general on this topic. 

First, in September 2018, the DHS inspector general released an 
initial report on the zero tolerance policy. This report found that 
the Trump administration officials had falsely claimed in June 
2018 that there was a, quote, ‘‘central data base tracking separated 
families.’’ The DHS inspector general found, quote, ‘‘no evidence 
that such a data base exists.’’ 

Inspector General, can you draw a comparison to your report’s 
finding that DOJ prosecutors were unable to determine location of 
separated children when asked by courts? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congresswoman, it is precisely that problem that 
no one had set up an appropriate tracking mechanism which the 
DHS OIG report, as you indicated, highlighted was one of the prob-
lems. 

Ms. KELLY. OK. The inspector general also concluded that the 
child separation policy took away critical resources from other DHS 
missions including, quote/unquote, ‘‘patrolling and securing the bor-
der.’’ 

Your report found that these policies took away critical resources 
from DOJ missions as well. Can you elaborate on the impact of 
child separations on other missions that DOJ components are sup-
posed to carry out? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Certainly, Congresswoman. 
So, for the Marshals Service, for example, what we heard was its 

impact on its budget, creating a $200 million plus impact on its 
budget which, obviously, impacts all work, but also the need for the 
Marshals Service to bring in additional resources—other deputy 
marshals, other personnel, to help manage the influx of defendants 
that were coming in to the Southwest border, which meant pulling 
people off of, for example, task forces that involve and execute ar-
rest warrants for wanted fugitives, other priority items for the 
Marshals Service. 
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In addition, we heard from the U.S. Attorneys that it impacted 
their ability to prosecute certain other cases and, obviously, there 
are only so many prosecutors out there. There are only so many 
courtrooms. There are only so many judges to handle those cases. 
And so if you shift priorities, you create an issue. 

Ms. KELLY. Thank you. 
A second report from the DHS inspector general issued in No-

vember 2019 found that the DHS lacked the technology needed in 
order to successfully track separated families. 

Your report cites to this one several times. From your review, did 
the Trump administration resolve these technological issues as sep-
arations increased, and what other coordination issues did you ob-
serve in your review? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, one of our concerns was as it became appar-
ent in May that there was a challenge and a problem with reuni-
fying children with the adults, in fact, nothing changed. 

And so there were no efforts to respond to it as we found at the 
department. There were discussions, but there weren’t steps taken. 
The policy remained in place. The separations continued to occur. 

The department continued to accept adults for prosecution even 
as it became apparent that DHS and HHS were having this prob-
lem with reunifying because of the lack of tracking. 

Ms. KELLY. Well, I just want to thank you again for your pa-
tience. I want to encourage my colleagues and officials in the Biden 
administration to really digest the findings from all of the reports. 

Thank you so much, and I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Kentucky, Mr. Comer, is recog-

nized for five minutes, our ranking member. 
Mr. COMER. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Inspector General Horowitz, isn’t it the case that before the zero 

tolerance policy was initiated and then after it was ended the gen-
eral practice was not to refer adult members of family units for 
criminal prosecution for misdemeanor illegal entry? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct, Congressman. 
Mr. COMER. I believe it was more often the case that border offi-

cials would simply process those family units together for adminis-
trative violations of immigration law. 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is our finding. 
Mr. COMER. Issued them paperwork, including a notice to appear 

in immigration court and then released them to the interior of the 
United States. Is that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is my general understanding. 
Mr. COMER. Well, this is an important point. One of the reasons 

why we saw so many family units arriving in recent years, in my 
opinion, that adults who bring children into the U.S. illegally could 
all but guarantee their release into the interior of the U.S. while 
they wait for immigration proceedings to play out, which can take 
years, given the current immigration backlog. 

Inspector General Horowitz, isn’t it true that this 1997 settle-
ment in Flores v. Reno, known as the Flores settlement agreement, 
sets the standard for the Federal Government’s treatment of de-
tained children and that because of this settlement agreement, 
children cannot be held in administrative immigration detention fa-
cilities together with their parents for longer than 20 days? 
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Mr. HOROWITZ. I believe it is both the Flores settlement and then 
there is also the Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization 
Act, which codified some of that—those settlement provisions. 

Mr. COMER. So, that means that a person who illegally crosses 
the border with a child is, in most cases, simply released from Cus-
toms and Border Protection custody to await further immigration 
court proceedings. Is that right? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is, certainly, you know, one of the options 
that has to be undertaken in light of the law. 

Mr. COMER. OK. Well, those high numbers we saw family units 
crossing illegally, they reached a peak in the spring of 2019. But 
the numbers were starting to come down due to reforms the Trump 
administration put in place, which is what a majority of Americans 
want and expect. 

The Trump administration also put in reforms to the asylum sys-
tem to ensure that people fleeing due to persecution would seek 
protection in the first safe country they arrived in, and that is a 
point that has not been made by the majority. 

Yet, President Biden, as one of his first acts in office, suspended 
enrollments in Migrant Protection Protocols. He has also vowed to 
rescind the safe third country agreements and roll back asylum for 
law reforms put in place by the Trump administration to ensure 
asylum integrity. 

But the open border lobby isn’t satisfied with that. They want an 
end to the order issued by the CDC that allows immigration offi-
cials to immediately expel illegal border crossovers to prevent 
COVID–19 from spreading in border facilities. 

That would fit in with the Biden plan which, apparently, wants 
to vaccinate illegal aliens before they vaccinate Americans. The 
open border lobby also want to put an end to civil immigration de-
tention capabilities altogether. They want to implement the failed 
policy of catch and release all over again. 

Combined with the reckless policies of gutting interior enforce-
ment priorities, halting all construction of physical border barriers, 
and announcing an amnesty plan for 11 million people living in the 
United States illegally. 

I am concerned that, once again, our border will be overrun and 
we will start seeing another security and humanitarian crisis. 

In closing, I urge the Biden administration to turn back now. Lis-
ten to the experts, not the open border lobby. Build on the reforms 
put into place over the last years and don’t tear them down. 

And with that, Madam Chair, I yield back the balance of my 
time. 

Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from Michigan, Mrs. Lawrence, is 
recognized for five minutes. 

Mrs. LAWRENCE. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
I firmly believe a politician without compassion is a criminal, and 

what we saw happen to these children being separated from their 
parents is criminal. 

At our hearing in July 2019, Elora Mukherjee, a professor and 
volunteer attorney working with children detained along the bor-
der, testified about her visit to the Customs and Border Patrol fa-
cility in Clint. 
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She quoted, ‘‘Children are hungry. Children are traumatized. 
They constantly cry and some wept in their interviews with me. 
One six-year-old girl detained all alone could only say, ’I am scared. 
I am scared. I am scared,’ over and over again. She couldn’t even 
say her name.’’ 

Inspector Horowitz, to your knowledge, did Attorney General 
Sessions or department leadership ever inquire about the condition 
of the children in the detention center that housed them once they 
had been removed from their parents? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congresswoman, I don’t know, as I sit here, if 
they ever did that. What I can say is there was no effort to change 
the policy while it was underway as reports came in about the 
problems that were occurring with reunification. 

Mrs. LAWRENCE. I want to play a video of an interview of a teen-
age girl recently reunited with her mother. 

Will the committee please play the video? 
[Video shown.] 
Mrs. LAWRENCE. Committee, I am really troubled about the pro-

tection of previous policies without having the compassion to recog-
nize what these children, based on directions of an administration 
and this House, have gone through. 

I want to ask you again, Inspector, to your knowledge did Attor-
ney General Sessions or department leadership make any effort to 
mitigate the trauma to children caused by family separation under 
the zero tolerance policy? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. We didn’t see evidence of any effort to mitigate 
the impact of it when—between the May 4 start date through the 
June 20 executive order other than the only thing we saw were ad-
ditional meetings and discussions, for example, with the courts. 
But the policy remained the same. 

Mrs. LAWRENCE. These stories are hard to hear, but we cannot 
forget that the suffering caused by the Trump administration’s in-
humane immigration policies continue to this day. We cannot ig-
nore the pain our country has caused these children. 

We must right this wrong and we must ensure that these atroc-
ities never happen again. We have a responsibility for the harm 
that we have caused, based on a direction of an administration and 
their leadership. 

Thank you, and I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from Illinois, Mr. Davis, is recognized 

for five minutes. 
Mr. DAVIS. Thank you, Madam Chairman, and I want to thank 

you, Inspector, for not only your work but being here with us today. 
Let me begin by just simply stating that I think the zero toler-

ance policy is really one of the most horrific ideas that anyone 
could come up with in relationship to trying to get a handle of or 
control the flow of immigrants coming into our country, which pro-
fesses to say, give me your tired, your huddled masses. 

And so I just want to make it known that I think the policy was 
corrupt from the beginning. Not to be redundant, but under ques-
tioning from representatives before you indicated that you saw no 
effort on the part of our government authorities to change the pol-
icy. 
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But did you see any corrective action as you looked and as you 
searched and as you did your work? Did you see any corrective ac-
tion in relationship to those individuals who had already been sep-
arated? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman, I mean, we—you know, what we 
saw was this mistaken belief before the policy was announced, the 
failure to coordinate before the policy was announced, and when 
the policy was implemented in May, on May 4, with the separa-
tions occurring and the problems arising and the notice coming up, 
that was additionally concerning to us because there weren’t efforts 
undertaken to mitigate it that way. The policy continued until it 
was—the executive order was issued by the president on June 20. 

Mr. DAVIS. Do we understand or do we know what, to the best 
of your knowledge, how many children and families are still out 
there, disconnected? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, based on our review and what we have seen 
in the ongoing civil litigation, the lawsuit that is going on, the last 
number I saw was just north of 500 and, again, I am not, obvi-
ously, following it day to day but that is approximately what the 
number was that I saw of the estimates. 

Mr. DAVIS. As you researched and looked and unraveled and dis-
sected, did you glean any indication of how long it might take to 
correct this action or to reconnect? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Well, from the court filing it looks like it is a very 
significant challenge and it is unclear, frankly, how long it might 
take because some of the parents, obviously, are no longer in the 
country and reuniting in that circumstance and even identifying 
connectivity—you know, connections between a parent and a child 
or an adult and a child at that point is a challenge. 

Mr. DAVIS. Well, as others have done, let me commend you for 
your work, for your service to our country, and thank you very 
much, Madam Chair. 

And I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman from California, Vice Chair Gomez, is 

recognized for five minutes. 
Mr. GOMEZ. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
What can I say about this hearing? I look at this hearing as, like, 

accountability and lessons learned from the Trump administra-
tion’s child separation policy. I only learned one lesson—you know, 
one main lesson, which is this never should have happened. Never 
should have happened, and it infuriates me because they—this ad-
ministration didn’t care about the repercussions and the trauma 
that would be caused to these children. They didn’t care. It was— 
it was so tunnel-visioned when it came to trying to enforce immi-
gration laws to prevent people from coming, and they did it in a 
way in order to dissuade and try to create a situation where par-
ents wouldn’t want to come. They wanted to make it so bad that 
parents would decide not to come to the United States. 

Coming from parents that did immigrate from Mexico, you know, 
a lot of these folks are desperate. They are oftentimes facing hard 
economic situations, hard—you know, they are facing violence. 

My parents faced just tough, tough times. Lived in a one-room 
adobe house in Mexico. And people are asked, are you going to take 
that risk? 
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Yes, they are going to take that risk because it is, like, they can 
risk coming here and making it or they can stay back home and 
having their kids die of either violence or starvation and, for them, 
it is a risk worth taking. 

But this administration didn’t care about the consequences and 
the impact it would have on kids. So, the main lesson I learned is 
that this never should have happened at all, and now we can pick 
it apart and find out what they didn’t do right and hold them ac-
countable, which we are going to do. But it just shouldn’t have hap-
pened from the beginning. 

One of the things is that we know that it has tremendous impact 
on the kids that were separated, psychologically. The trauma asso-
ciated with it is so severe. I want to read a quote from the former 
president of the American Psychological Association, Dr. Jessica 
Henderson Daniel. 

It says, ‘‘The longer that children and parents are separated, the 
greater the reported symptoms and anxiety and depression for the 
children. Negative outcomes for children include psychological dis-
tress, academic difficulties and disruptions in their development.’’ 

In fact, because there is so much risk of harm, the American Psy-
chological Association has made reunification of children with their 
families one of its top priorities. Other medical professionals agree. 

Dr. Colleen Kraft, a former president of the American Academy 
of Pediatrics, said studies overwhelmingly demonstrate the irrep-
arable harm caused by breaking up families. 

So, Inspector Horowitz, are you familiar with these opinions of 
long-lasting impact on trauma of the children? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Congressman, I, certainly, read the articles about 
them and seen various experts speak to that. 

Mr. GOMEZ. And, you know, you know and I know we don’t really 
need the experts to tell us that that was going to happen. But it 
just reinforces just how devastating this policy was for these fami-
lies. 

Your review found also that Attorney General Sessions and the 
Justice Department leadership knew that children would be sepa-
rated from their parents as a result of the zero tolerance policy. Is 
that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Mr. GOMEZ. So, they knew—I can assume that they knew that 

the trauma that would be caused by separating the kids—let us 
say they knew that—but they did it anyways, and that is the 
shame of this zero tolerance policy, that this administration en-
gaged in it but didn’t care about the consequences and the im-
pact—the negative impact it would have on the kids. 

Maybe it is because they didn’t believe that kids of undocu-
mented immigrants deserved any more care and understanding 
and didn’t care if they were harmed because they weren’t, quote/ 
unquote, ‘‘U.S. citizens.’’ 

So, it is something that is still troubling me. I went down to the 
border—I actually slept on the border—to watch some of the asy-
lum seekers get in and everything from this administration, when 
it came to immigration, was just terrible because they didn’t care 
about the repercussions it would have on anybody. 
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So, it is something that we have to fix. I am still really troubled 
by the fact that these kids have been—there are still some kids 
that have been separated. How many have—are still separated and 
how many are we trying to still reunite, and is it even possible? 

Ms. TLAIB. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. So just, you know, in terms of the numbers, the 

last numbers I have seen from the court litigation is around 500 
still being separated—still separated from the adult that they trav-
eled here with, and, obviously, the challenges in reunifying in that 
circumstance when the child is here and the adult is overseas are 
pretty substantial. 

Mr. GOMEZ. Thank you. I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. The gentlewoman from Massachusetts, Ms. Pressley, 

is recognized for five minutes. 
Ms. PRESSLEY. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Many of our colleagues on either side would have us believe we 

must simply move on from the horrid policy violence enacted on so 
many marginalized communities over the last four years of the 
Trump administration. 

Well, I, certainly, refuse to just move on. To be clear, we will not 
move on until there is accountability, until there is restitution, 
until there is justice for these families, and until every single one 
of these 628 children are reunited with their parents. The trauma 
inflicted on these children by the U.S. Government will always be 
a dark stain on our Nation’s history. 

I will never forget what I witnessed during our trip to the south-
ern border, mothers who I held in my arms as they cried out for 
their babies and begged for help. It is something I will never forget, 
something our Nation must never forget, and something we as pol-
icymakers must ensure never happens again. 

And while today’s hearing is on the Trump administration’s cruel 
and callous family separation policy, it is important to recognize 
that for decades our immigration system has been built on sepa-
rating families. From those seeking asylum at the border to the 
families preyed upon by ICE in the Massachusetts 7th congres-
sional District, and communities across the country every single 
day. 

So, we must look at this issue holistically and work to build an 
immigration system that finally centers the dignity and humanity 
of all our immigrant neighbors. 

So, Inspector General Horowitz, thank you for your work on this 
report. It is clear that the Trump administration officials knew full 
well the pain and harm they were inflicting with this policy. 

On Tuesday, President Biden signed an executive order to create 
a task force to reunify the hundreds of families that were separated 
as a result of this policy. It is an important step toward healing. 

But healing also requires that we hold these individuals account-
able who were the cruel masterminds behind these policies. Your 
report notes that former Attorney General Jeff Sessions declined to 
be interviewed by your office as a part of the review. 

This was despite him being a driving force in leading DHS to 
separate families by referring parents for prosecution. Is that cor-
rect? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
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Ms. PRESSLEY. Do you believe Mr. Sessions should have been 
interviewed? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. Absolutely. 
Ms. PRESSLEY. He was, largely, responsible for implementing the 

zero tolerance policy and continuing to prosecute parents even after 
his own officials told him they could not provide basic information 
to courts about the separated families. Is that correct? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. That is correct. 
Ms. PRESSLEY. Your report also found that Deputy AG Rod 

Rosenstein was also heavily involved in the decision to separate 
families. In fact, Mr. Rosenstein was recorded on a call instructing 
U.S. Attorneys not to decline any cases due to the age of children 
in family units. 

Like former AG Sessions, Mr. Rosenstein was also made aware 
of rampant problems from the U.S. Attorneys as separations in-
creased. 

Does your investigation suggest that Mr. Rosenstein took any ac-
tion to try to stop the policy, even as department resources were 
overwhelmed and thousands of families were being separated? 

Mr. HOROWITZ. So, what we found is the policy was implemented 
in May and in June. No steps were taken by the department, in-
cluding by the deputy attorney general or others in the department 
to change the policy while it was underway, and that only ceased 
on June 20 when the executive order was issued. Mr. Rosenstein 
did go to meetings with the courts, did have meetings with the 
prosecutors, but the policy itself was unchanged. 

Ms. PRESSLEY. Child abuse, plain and simple. I don’t know how 
they sleep at night knowing they employed someone responsible for 
this type of injustice. It is really beyond me. 

Inspector General Horowitz, your report brings us closer to the 
truth. I look forward to working with my colleagues to ensure that 
it will bring us even closer to justice. 

Thank you, and I yield. 
Mr. HOROWITZ. Thank you, Congresswoman. 
Ms. TLAIB. Before we close, I want to recognize Ranking Member 

Comer for any closing remarks. 
Mr. COMER. Thank you, Madam Chair, and again, I want to 

thank Mr. Horowitz for testifying today and thank him for his 
work on this issue and many others. 

Clearly, the zero tolerance policy suffered serious implementation 
defects. I hope that with the inspector general’s report these will 
never be repeated. 

But I remain concerned, as are most Americans, with our current 
border security situation and the policies of the Biden administra-
tion with respect to border security. 

I urge my colleagues to conduct oversight in this area. You know, 
we have spent the last two years with countless investigations of 
the Trump administration, and I know that this—the Democrats on 
this committee were addicted to investigating Donald Trump. 

But I have some news for you. Donald Trump is no longer presi-
dent. Joe Biden is president. So, we have got a situation with re-
spect to border security and with respect to our 11 million Ameri-
cans who are unemployed, with the hundreds of millions of Ameri-
cans who currently haven’t had access to COVID vaccine. 
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But, yet, we spend more time today investigating the Trump ad-
ministration. I am glad the Trump administration took the zero tol-
erance policy that was started by the Biden administration and cor-
rected that. 

Now it is time to move on. It is time to focus on our border secu-
rity, and I, again, urge President Biden and his administration to 
take the crisis at the border seriously and let us not repeat history. 

With that, Madam Chair, I yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. Thank you. 
Inspector General Horowitz, I want to thank you and your staff 

for your critically important work we have been discussing today. 
Nearly two years ago, I went to the Southwest border and visited 

just a few of the thousands of children separated from their fami-
lies as a result of the Trump administration’s cruel and inhumane 
immigration policy. 

It was very difficult for me as a mother. I mean, what do you 
say to a child who is suddenly taken from their parents and doesn’t 
know when they will see them again? 

What do you say to a child who sits all day in a fenced-in space 
they call, quote, ‘‘icebox?’’ What do you say to our children, our 
grandchildren, when they ask us how did this happen and what did 
we do about it? 

As you have heard today, Attorney General Sessions and other 
top officials in the administration knew this would happen. They 
intended it to happen. And even though Trump administration’s 
cruel zero tolerance policy has been rescinded, the harm still exists 
and there is much work to do. 

We must demand accountability for the officials who instituted 
this policy with no regard for the trauma and lifelong consequences 
for the children it impacted. 

We must try to right the wrongs committed against these chil-
dren, reunite those who remain separated to this day, and support 
the families as they deal with the deep trauma they have experi-
enced. And we must ensure that our country, that we never, never 
needlessly separate children and weaponize them with trying to ad-
dress the immigration crisis. 

Finally, before I adjourn today’s hearing, I want to take a mo-
ment to express my deep condolences, all of our condolences, to our 
colleague, Jim Cooper, whose wife, Martha, passed away this morn-
ing. Our thoughts are with you and your family during this very 
difficult time. 

And because I want to also take care of two procedural matters, 
first, I want to recognize the ranking member to announce the sub-
committee ranking members. 

Ranking Member Comer? 
Mr. COMER. Thank you again, Madam Chair, and we are very, 

very excited to have three returning ranking members to the House 
Oversight Committee. 

We have returning ranking member of the National Security 
Subcommittee, Mr. Glenn Grothman from Wisconsin, returning 
ranking subcommittee member of the Government Operations Sub-
committee, Mr. Jody Hice from Georgia. 

We have returning as the ranking subcommittee member of Eco-
nomic and Consumer Policy, Michael Cloud from Texas, and I am 



55 

very pleased to announce two new ranking members for the Envi-
ronment Subcommittee. Pleased to announce Ralph Norman of 
South Carolina will be our ranking member. And, finally, the new 
ranking member of the Civil Rights and Civil Liberties Sub-
committee will be Mr. Pete Sessions from the great state of Texas. 

Yield back. 
Ms. TLAIB. Thank you. 
Next, the clerk has distributed two lists in advance naming both 

majority and minority members to subcommittees. I move that the 
list naming members to subcommittees be approved. 

Without objection, so ordered. 
Ms. TLAIB. Now, in closing, I want to thank our panelist for his 

remarks and I want to commend my colleagues for participating in 
this important conversation. 

With that, without objection, all members have five legislative 
days within which to submit additional written questions for the 
witnesses to the chair, which will be forwarded to the witnesses for 
his response. I ask the witness to please respond as promptly as 
you are able. 

This hearing is adjourned. 
[Whereupon, at 1:18 p.m., the committee was adjourned.] 
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